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Pre-contract

Immediate Regulatory Compliance across all Business Functions
Procurement, Sell-Side, IT, Intellectual Property, and others

End-to-End Solution
Contracts and Obligations to Payment and Collections

Rapid ROI
Through Real-time Transaction Compliance

Enterprise-Class
More than 280 Customers Worldwide,
World-class Support and Professional Services
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A LETTER FROM YORGEN H. EDHOLM
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
[-MANY, INC.

Dear fellow stockholder,

Barely a month ago, { accepted the responsibility of leading I-many as its interim Chief Executive Officer. In my
short time with the company, | have met with employees from every office, with customers across the country
and abroad, with many of its owners, and with businesses with which we hope to forge new partnerships. As
I-many enters this new phase of its existence, we have a chance for renaissance. | am scrutinizing existing
processes, testing old assumptions and considering everything we do with a new eye. And | am demanding
that our employees do the same. As one might expect with any software company, whether it's a fresh start-up
or a longstanding industry leader, | have already found areas where we can improve. There are - and always
will be — processes we can make more efficient, ways of thinking we should adjust, and choices we can make
better.

But what impresses me most is all the good | see. We have fantastic customers, the kind most other companies
can only dream of serving. We have some of the best products in the industry, and extraordinary promise in the
new Enterprise Contract Management Foundation and its future suite of new applications. And we have great
people - smart, dedicated and full of a desire to build quality products and relationships.

The company’s largest shareholders decided to take a more active role in the company this year because
they believe there is remarkable opportunity in the emerging market for Enterprise Contract Management
solutions, When they asked me a few months ago to join the board of directors, their enthusiasm for this
market space, and for I-many’s leading position to exploit it, inspired me to give the company a thoughtful
look. My excitement began then, and it has only grown since the board entrusted me with the company’s
leadership.

My goal, of course, is to refine the organization so it can most effectively seize these opportunities - sometimes
with small adjustments, in other cases with more radical alterations, and everywhere with a renewed
entrepreneurial spirit. | am here to exploit the advantage I-many enjoys from its history, its stellar customer
base, its committed employees, and its foresighted investments in new markets and technologies.

Our profile as a company with the vision, human capital and technology necessary to succeed in an exciting
market segment has never been higher. We thank you for your continued support.

%%&K SdlA__

Yorgen H. Edholm
September 2005
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PARTI

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

The information in this report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
Such statements are based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Any statements
contained herein that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. For
example, words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue,” “strategy,”
“believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “expects,” “intends,” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-
looking statements. Our actual results and the timing of certain events may differ significantly from the results
discussed in the forward-looking statement. Factors that might cause or contribute to such a discrepancy include,
but are not limited to, those discussed elsewhere in this report in the section entitled “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Certain Factors That May Affect Future
Results” and the risks discussed in our other Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filings.
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OVERVIEW

In December 2004, we announced an agreement to merge our Company with Selectica, Inc. for an all-cash
purchase price to our shareholders of $1.55 per outstanding share, subject to the approval of our shareholders and
other conditions. To date, all significant conditions to the closing of this sale have been satisfied except for
shareholder approval. The special meeting of shareholders of our Company to consider and vote upon the
proposed sale is scheduled for March 30, 2005. Certain major shareholders have publicly announced their
opposition to the merger, and accordingly we cannot assure you that the merger will be approved. On March 1,
the closing price of our common stock on Nasdaq was $1.59 per share.

We provide software and related professional services that allow our clients to manage important aspects of
their contract-based, business-to-business relationships, including:

+ Contract creation, repository, actionable terms tracking, date and event monitoring and reporting

* Contract compliance management for verification of compliance and accuracy of orders, shipments,
invoices, rebates and payments to ensure error-free operations and proper performance-based incentives

»  Cash collection, deductions management and dispute resolution, often based on analysis of agreed to
contract terms and conditions and

+ Evaluation of the effectiveness of contracts and business operations.
In 2004, software license fees comprised 29.4% of our total revenue, and services fees comprised 70.6%.

Our clients include supply chain participants on both the “buy” side and “sell” side of business transactions
across numerous vertical markets, including manufacturers, distributors, demand aggregators, retailers and
purchasers.

We operate our business in two segments, our health and life sciences line of business and our other
industries (which we call our “industry solutions”) business. The health and life sciences line of business markets
and sells our products and services to companies in the life sciences industries, including pharmaceutical and
medical product companies, wholesale distributors, hospitals, group purchasing organizations and managed care
organizations. Qur industry solutions line of business targets all other industries, with an emphasis on consumer
products, foodservice, electronics, service providers, disposables, consumer durables, industrial products,
chemicals, apparel, and telecommunications. Our primary products and services were originally developed to
manage complex contract purchasing relationships in the health and life sciences industry, and we currently
count 22 of the largest 25 pharmaceutical manufacturers, ranked according to 2003 annual healthcare revenues,
as customers. As the depth and breadth of our product suites have expanded, we have added companies in the
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industry solutions markets to our customer base. We currently have more than 280 customers including Bayer,
Eli Lilly, Astra Zeneca, Aventis, Procter & Gamble, Honeywell Aerospace, Metaldyne, RONA, Del Monte, Frito
Lay and Dr. Pepper/Seven Up. In 2004, approximately 72.7% of our revenues were from health and life sciences
customers and 27.3% of our revenues were from industry solutions sources.

We deliver our products chiefly through two means: (1) software licensed for installation on our clients’
computer systems, and (2) to a lesser extent, software licensed on an application service provider basis which we
host on servers operated and supported by third-party providers. While some of our software products are
focused on customers in our health and life sciences market-—I-many Medicaid™ and I-many Government
Pricing™, for example—many of our products are useful solutions for companies in both our industry solutions
market and our health and life sciences market. See “Products and Services—Products” below.

THE BUSINESS-TO-BUSINESS MARKETPLACE

We believe that the growth of business-to-business trade is characterized, and will continue to be
characterized, by the increasing use of contracts between supply chain participants and the need to ensure that terms
negotiated in contracts are in fact being observed and tracked for compliance. In our targeted industries—health and
life sciences, consumer products, foodservice, industrial products, chemicals, apparel and other industries where
complex purchase contracts exist—the process of making, managing and maximizing contracts throughout their life
cycle and identifying and resolving contract compliance issues are often accomplished through the use of paper-
based or legacy computer systems that are unsuitable for managing the volume and complexity of contracts. In
addition, these industries employ pricing mechanisms such as chargebacks and rebates to adjust amounts paid by
purchasers. Calculating, reconciling and distributing these chargebacks and rebates while simultaneously ensuring
pricing compliance with myriad governmental regulations and other tasks associated with them often result in high
administrative costs and disputes involving substantial amounts of money.

Supply chain participants frequently use sales and purchasing contracts to facilitate the purchase and sale of
goods and services. These contracts—among supply chain participants, such as manufacturers, distributors,
retailers, demand aggregators such as buying groups, and the end users of goods and services—allow buyers and
sellers to budget, plan and manage funds and agree on prices, discounts and volume rebates. These contracts
often establish price and non-price incentives, which can be based upon multiple factors, including:

» total volume of products purchased

* overall sales of particular products

* duration of the contract

+ number of parties to the contract

* governmental regulations (state, local, federal)

* number of products covered by the contract and

* the purchaser’s demographic characteristics.

In addition to these incentives, contracts can include any number of other attributes, including requirements
for fulfilling shipments within prescribed time periods, advanced shipping notifications, packaging and labeling
requirements.

Supply Chain Participants. The business-to-business supply chain includes the following participants:

* MANUFACTURERS of products that use business-to-business relationships, including contracts, to
establish favorable prices, assure a reliable channel of distribution and offer incentives to achieve their
sales and marketing goals;

* DISTRIBUTORS that purchase goods from manufacturers or demand aggregators for resale;
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* DEMAND AGGREGATORS AND OTHER INTERMEDIARIES representing groups of purchasers,
such as group purchasing organizations in the healthcare industry and buying cooperatives in the
consumer products and foodservice industries, that aggregate their members’ demand for products to
obtain favorable pricing terms. Demand aggregators typically receive monthly fees from their members
or receive a percentage of all transactions negotiated on their constituents’ behalf;

» PURCHASERS AND RETAILERS of products that buy goods under contracts negotiated on their
behalf by demand aggregators or other intermediaries; and

» BUSINESS-TO-BUSINESS E-COMMERCE EXCHANGES that allow supply chain participants to
establish business relationships using the Internet.

Complexity of Contract Buying/Selling. In the industries we target, contracts typically contain pricing
incentives and other mechanisms designed to meet the particular goals of the trading partners. The price of any
particular product or service purchased under a typical contract of our customers may vary substantially,
depending upon, among other things, external factors such as a manufacturer’s market share and the purchaser’s
demographic characteristics, and highly specific factors such as the number of units of a particular product
purchased during a specified time period. Contracts also allow buyers and sellers to budget, plan and manage
funds and agree on prices, discounts and volume rebates. Training, maintenance and other non-price incentives
can also be based upon multiple factors. Other contract attributes include criteria such as a requirement for
fulfilling shipments within prescribed time periods, advanced notifications, packaging and labeling requirements,
etc. Contracts contain numerous and varied clauses and other business performance language that must also be
internally reviewed, approved and managed by both buyers and sellers. Compliance with this language and the
individual financial transactions governed by master contracts must be measured in order to ensure the intended
outcome of a contract is achieved or to avoid penalties with commercial trading partners or government entities.

Contracts are often negotiated on behalf of a large number of purchasers and include pricing incentives,
which result in different prices for otherwise similarly-situated purchasers, based on the purchasers’ achievement
of, or failure to achieve, certain goals (usually volume-related) under the contract.

While many purchase contract variations exist, several fundamental types of pricing mechanisms in
purchase contracts are illustrative of the complexity involved. Specific examples include: chargeback (also called
“deviated billing” or “billbacks,” depending upon the industry) and rebate management. Chargebacks are
generally used as an incentive tool in contracts between manufacturers and demand aggregators. Eligible
members of a demand aggregator (meaning purchasers who are on a contract of the aggregator, such as a group
purchasing organization or buying cooperative) order products either directly from the manufacturer or, more
commonly, through a large distributor. When a product is ordered through a distributor, the distributor must sell
the item at the price negotiated between the manufacturer and the demand aggregator. Often, the manufacturer
asks the distributor to sell to the member at a price below the price the distributor paid the manufacturer. In these
cases, the distributor attempts to verify the eligibility of the member to receive the lower contract price and, if the
purchaser is eligible, the distributor seeks to recover, or chargeback, from the manufacturer the difference
between the distributor’s cost and the lower contract price. Given the large volume of purchases under these
contracts, constantly changing membership in demand aggregators, complicated eligibility requirements and
disparate information systems involved, it is not uncommon for manufacturers, purchasers, demand aggregators,
and distributors to calculate significantly different chargebacks, resulting in disputes among the parties, which
require an approved method of adjudication.

A second type of pricing mechanism is a rebate. Typically, rebate provisions entitle a purchaser to a return
of a portion of the purchase price based on factors such as the volume of product purchased or increase in market
share achieved. Rebate provisions are common in contracts between manufacturers and large volume purchasers.
Manufacturers generally adopt this kind of agreement in order to further their marketing objectives. In order to
determine rebates based on market share, the parties must refer to external market share data. As with chargeback
contracts, the complicated task of administering rebate-based contracts often results in high administrative costs
and disputes involving substantial amounts of money.




Many additional mechanisms contained in a purchase contract, sales contract, royalty agreement, or
partnering arrangement must also be memorialized and tracked for compliance in order to satisfy contractual
commitments or governmental regulations, including the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Administrative Demands of Contract Purchasing. As a result of the intricacies of contract purchasing,
the administration of sales, purchase and other contracts and agreements can be difficult and expensive. Among
other things, each participant in the supply chain must be able to:

» Target and plan trading partner relationships

» Negotiate terms and conditions, including specific language requiring legal review and approval
+ Plan and monitor the impact of different pricing strategies

*  Monitor dates or events

« Integrate pricing, inventory, market share and other data relevant to the contract with existing enterprise
resource planning and other management systems

* Validate purchasers’ eligibility for participation in specific contracts or parts of contracts, including the
time period in which the purchaser is on the contract, agreed-upon pricing mechanisms, rebates and
distributors’ eligibility for chargebacks

» Transact or adjudicate transactions relative to the terms and conditions of the contract—often
encompassing enormous volumes of data related to invoices, inventory, shipments and market share

*  Monitor compliance of the contract against specific governmental or industry requirements or
regulations

*  Monitor compliance of individual sale and purchase transactions against the terms and conditions of the
master contracts that govern them

» Settle disputes associated with contract and non-contract issues such as price discrepancies, non-
compliance, misallocation of funds, level of earned incentives, and others, and

+ Evaluate the performance of completed and in-process contracts based on the original intent of the
agreement from the perspective of both buyers and sellers.

I[-MANY’S SOLUTIONS

Broad Offering of Enterprise Contract Management Capabilities. Enterprise contract management
provides organizations with the visibility to ensure compliance and consistency in their contractual relationships.
We provide software that allows our clients to make, manage and maximize critical aspects of their contract-
based business-to-business relationships, including:

« Contract creation, repository and change notifications, including verification and approval of specific
language for participants in complex supply chains

» Validation of data prior to determining amounts owed under a contract

*  Verification of compliance with and accuracy of orders, shipments, invoices, rebates and payments to
ensure error-free operations and proper performance-based incentives

* Settlement and dispute capabilities to resolve payment discrepancies due to contracts, and

* Evaluation of the effectiveness of contracts.

Flexible Product Offerings. We can deliver our products through several means. We generally license and
deliver our products for installation on our clients’ own computer systems. In addition, we can license our

products on an application service provider basis, which means that we install the software on servers hosted and
supported by third party providers, which our client then accesses over the Internet or over a secure private
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network. In 2004 we also began to license our solutions as subscriptions, typically for a three year term. We
believe that these delivery and licensing alternatives provide our clients with flexibility in terms of how they
choose to pay for our products, and the level of internal information technology support resources they need to
optimize the use. Products currently being delivered on our Enterprise Contract Management Foundation
technology are planned to be accessible via the web to future clients without the need for a traditional software/
hardware implementation.

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Products. To date, a significant portion of our revenues has come from the sale of software licenses and
related professional services to healthcare manufacturers, distributors, group purchasing organizations and other
companies in the life and health sciences customer base, representing altogether 6§% of our revenues in 2002, 66%
of our revenues in 2003, and 73% of our revenues in 2004. In 2004, one customer accounted for 21.0% of total net
revenue. Our license fees are based on a number of factors, including the nature and number of modules being
licensed, the number of users, the term of the license and the size of the client. For a discussion of our product
market segments, see Note 9 to the financial statements contained in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The components and features of our products are designed to address business and process needs related to
contract management, which in combination we refer to as “Enterprise Contract Management.” The following
are brief descriptions of products within our Enterprise Contract Management and Health and Life Sciences Price
Management Suites:

I-many ContractSphere® Enterprise Contract Management Product Suite:

» I-many Contract Manager™: Centralizes contract content and terms in an enterprise class repository
for instantaneous search and view capabilities. Also provides the ability to create contracts from existing
templates and clauses, with collaborative workflow and an auditable approval process. Enables
compliance and monitoring of specific dates and other identified events.

+ I-many Compliance Manager™: Enables companies to compare actual transaction results against the
terms and conditions of a contract to determine if the transaction conducted was in compliance with the
original intent of the contract. It also reduces “maverick” procurement and sales orders by ensuring
transactions are tied back to the contract.

* I-many Incentives™: Provides the tools needed to monitor product pricing, manage agreement
incentives and track end-user and prime vendor relationships as well as forecast and report on all aspects
of contract management and administration.

» I-many Deductions Manager™: Works in real time with enterprise resource planning (ERP) systems
and other essential back-office systems to increase deduction collections by automating and
streamlining customer communications and follow-up. Deductions Manager speeds resolution through
the use of automated, user-defined action steps and provides detailed deduction reporting and deduction
tracking history.

+ I-many Collections Manager™: Improves cash flow and reduces days sales outstanding (DSO) by
streamlining and automating collections processes. The solution is web-based and optimized for global
organizations that can benefit from user-defined workflows.

I-many Health and Life Sciences Price Management Product Suite:

» I-many Contract Advisor™: Enables health and life science companies to develop pricing scenarios
and structure contracts in a real-time environment to meet commercial goals, optimize revenue and
profitability and monitor government and regulatory compliance-related issues.

» I-many Contract Manager™: described above.
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I-many CARS®: Provides comprehensive, end-to-end management of mission critical, incentive-driven
contract and program processes.

I-many Medicaid™: Processes data, calculates rebates and creates payments for both federal and state
rebate programs.

I-many Medicaid State Supplemental™: Streamlines I-many Medicaid’s product contract setup and
invoice processing. Key components include a Non-Standard Rebate Per Unit Calculator Pack and
Supplemental Claim Processing.

I-many Government Pricing™: Enables companies to quickly and efficiently monitor and comply with
all government-mandated pricing and reporting requirements established by the Medicaid Drug Rebate
Program, the Federal Supply Schedule and the Veteran’s Health Care Act of 1992.

I-many Compliance Manager™: Enables companies to compare actual transaction results against the
terms and conditions of a contract to determine if transactions complied with the original terms of the
contract. It also reduces “maverick” procurement and sales orders by ensuring transactions are tied back
to the contract.

I-many CARS Compliance Monitors™: Enables companies to compare actual transaction results
against the terms and conditions of a contract in I-many CARS. Also includes the ability to monitor
transaction from related business systems, monitor process breaks, log discrepancies and resolve issues
through a full featured resolution system.

I-many Validata™ (in development); Is expected to help ensure the validity and accuracy of the
billions of dollars in Managed Care and Medicaid rebates that pharmaceutical manufacturers process
and pay each year. I-many Validata is also planned to provide manufacturers with the ability to validate
prescription-level claims for the upcoming Medicare drug rebate program and the new state and
supplemental programs.

Professional Services. Our professional services group provides consulting services, deployment services,
business analysis services, and training and customer support services. At December 31, 2004, this group was
comprised of 75 employees. The group is augmented by outside consultants whom we have trained, working as
subcontractors or through strategic relationship agreements.

CONSULTING SERVICES. We work with our clients before, during and after installation of our
solutions to optimize the capabilities of our solutions. These services include project planning and
management, business process analysis, technical services including integration with the clients’
enterprise resource planning systems, and quality assurance.

DEPLOYMENT SERVICES. Our deployment services include pre-installation planning, on-site
installation, upgrade services, system testing, database administration support and professional service
support.

BUSINESS ANALYSIS AND TRAINING SERVICES. We offer business analysis services and
training programs for those persons within the client organization responsible for using our solutions,
such as contract administrators. In addition, we offer user group meetings to enable customers to learn
about product directions and influence our future products.

TECHNICAL SERVICES. We offer comprehensive maintenance and support services, including
telephone hotline service (available during business hours or, for additional fees, up to 24 hours a day, 7
days a week), documentation updates and new software releases.

CUSTOMERS

We have more than 280 customers. Approximately 72.7% of our revenue in 2004 was derived from
companies in the health and life sciences industries, including pharmaceutical and medical product companies,
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wholesale distributors and managed care organizations. We also have sold our solutions to companies in other
industries such as consumer products, foodservice, disposables, consumer durables, industrial products,
chemicals, apparel and others. In 2004, one customer accounted for 21.0% of total net revenue. Revenues from
customers based outside the United States, primarily the United Kingdom, comprised 6.2%, 6.6% and 8.4% of
our total revenues in 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively. At December 31, 2004, 2.7% of our total tangible assets
were located outside the United States, primarily in the United Kingdom.

SALES AND MARKETING

We market our software and services primarily through a direct sales force. As of December 31, 2004, our
worldwide sales force consisted of a total of 26 employees, including 16 sales representatives and 10 persons
who are business consultants, sales management or sales support employees. We intend to continue to evaluate
the size and structure of our sales force. We also intend to evaluate the use of third party resellers of our products
and services as a supplement to our own direct sales efforts.

TECHNOLOGY AND PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

Since our inception, we have made substantial investments in product development. We believe that our
future financial performance depends on our ability to maintain and enhance our current products and develop
new products. Qur research and development expenses were $17.2 million in 2002, $16.7 million in 2003 and
$11.9 million in 2004. Despite falling revenues during difficult economic times, we have expended this level of
research and development investment in 2004 due to our belief in the potential of enterprise contract
management and the demand for comprehensive solutions that deliver increasing value to the market and our
customers.

As of December 31, 2004, we employed 55 people in our product development organization who are
responsible for the design, development and release of our products. The group is organized into five disciplines:
development, quality assurance, documentation, product management and project engineering. Members from
each discipline form separate product teams to work closely with our sales, marketing, services, client and
prospects organizations to better understand market needs and user requirements. Each product team also hosts a
series of user focus groups, and representatives attend our user conference. We also use third parties to expand
the capacity and technical expertise of our internal product development organization. Periodically, we have
licensed third-party technology and we have acquired companies with products and technologies, which are
complementary to our existing products. We believe this approach shortens our time to market without
compromising our competitive position or product quality, and we plan to continue to draw on third-party
resources as needed in the future.

COMPETITION

The contract management software market continues to be subject to rapid change. Competitors vary in size
and in the scope and breadth of the products and services offered. We encounter competition primarily from
internal information systems departments of potential or current customers that develop custom software,
software companies that target the contract management markets, and professional services organizations.

We believe that the principal competitive factors affecting our market include product reputation,
functionality, ease-of-use, ability to integrate with other products and technologies, quality, performance, price,
customer service and support and the vendors’ reputation. Although we believe that our products currently
compete favorably with regard to such factors, we cannot assure you that we can maintain our competitive
position against current and potential competitors. Increased competition may result in price reductions, less
beneficial contract terms, reduced gross margins and loss of market share, any of which could materially and
adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.
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Many of our competitors and potential competitors have greater resources than we do, and may be able to
respond more quickly and efficiently to new or emerging technologies, programming languages or standards, or
to changes in customer requirements or preferences. Many of our competitors can devote greater managerial or
financial resources than we can to develop, promote and distribute contract management software products and
provide related consulting, training and support services. We cannot assure you that our current or future
competitors will not develop products or services which may be superior in one or more respects to ours or which
may gain greater market acceptance. Some of our competitors have established or may establish cooperative
arrangements or strategic alliances among themselves or with third parties, thus enhancing their abilities to
compete with us. It is likely that new competitors will emerge and rapidly acquire market share. We cannot
assure you that we will be able to compete successfully against current or future competitors or that the
competitive pressures faced by us will not materially and adversely affect our business, operating results and
financial condition. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Certain Factors That May Affect Future Results—We have many competitors and potential
competitors and we may not be able to compete effectively.”

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND LICENSES

We rely primarily on a combination of copyright, trademark and trade secrets laws, as well as
confidentiality agreements to protect our proprietary rights. Our trademarks include our corporate name and the
names of our products. In addition, we have filed applications for patent protection with respect to certain aspects
of our products. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy
aspects of our products or to obtain the use of information that we regard as proprietary. In addition, the laws of
some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary rights to as great an extent as do the laws of the United
States. We cannot assure investors that our means of protecting our proprietary rights will be adequate or that our
competitors will not independently develop similar technology.

We are not aware that any of our products infringe the proprietary rights of third parties. We cannot assure
investors, however, that third parties will not claim infringement by us with respect to current or future products.
We expect that software product developers will increasingly be subject to infringement claims as the number of
products and competitors in our industry segment grows and the functionality of products in different industry
segments overlaps. Any such claims, with or without merit, could be time-consuming, result in costly litigation,
cause product shipment delays or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements. Such royalty or
licensing agreements, if required, may not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all, which could have a
material adverse effect upon our business, operating results and financial condition.

From time to time, we license software from third parties for use with our products. We believe that no such
license agreement to which we are presently a party is individually material and that if any such license
agreement were to terminate for any reason, we would be able to obtain a license or otherwise acquire other
comparable technology or software on terms and on a timetable that would not be materially adverse to us.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2004, we had a total of 176 employees, of whom 30 were based in Portland, Maine, 59
were based in Redwood City, California, 14 were based at our headquarters in Edison, New Jersey, 5 were based
at our international headquarters in London, England, and 68 worked at other offices and remote locations. Of the
total, 55 were in research and development, 32 were in sales and marketing, 75 were in professional and support
services, and 14 were in administration and finance. Our future performance depends in significant part upon the
continued service of our key technical, sales and marketing and senior management personnel and our continuing
ability to attract and retain highly qualified technical, sales and marketing and managerial personnel. Competition
for such personnel is strong and we cannot assure you that we will be successful in attracting or retaining such
personnel in the future. None of our employees is represented by a labor union or is subject to a collective
bargaining agreement. We have not experienced any work stoppages and consider our relations with our
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employees to be good. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuits of
Operations—Certain Factors That May Affect Future Results—We rely significantly on certain key individuals
and our business will suffer if we are unable to retain them.”

COMPANY BACKGROUND

I-many was originally incorporated in Massachusetts as Systems Consulting Company, Inc., or SCC, on
June 5, 1989. On April 2, 1998, SCC Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation, was formed as a holding
company and acquired all the stock of SCC. In January 2000, SCC Technologies, Inc. changed its name to I-
many, Inc., and SCC merged into I-many, Inc. Our Internet website address is www. imany.com. We are not
including the information contained in our website as part of, or incorporating it by reference into, this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. We make available, free of charge through our website, our annual reports on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports, as soon as
reasonably practicable after we electronically file these materials with, or otherwise furnish them to, the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

In December 2004, we announced an agreement to merge our Company with Selectica, Inc. for an all-cash
purchase price to our shareholders of $1.55 per outstanding share, subject to the approval of our shareholders and
other conditions. To date, all significant conditions to the closing of this sale have been satisfied except for
shareholder approval. The special meeting of shareholders of our Company to consider and vote upon the
proposed sale is scheduled for March 30, 2005. Certain major shareholders have publicly announced their
opposition to the merger, and accordingly we cannot assure you that the merger will be approved. On March 1,
the closing price of our common stock on Nasdaq was $1.59 per share.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease approximately 15,400 square feet of office space in Edison, New Jersey under a lease expiring in
2009, for use by executive, professional services and administrative personnel in both our business segments. A
portion of our development, customer support and administrative offices for both market segments are located in
approximately 10,700 square feet of leased office space located in Portland, Maine under a lease expiring in
December 2005. Also, we lease approximately 10,400 square feet of office space in Redwood City, California
under a lease expiring in 2008, for use by development, sales and marketing personnel in primarily our other
industries market segment. In addition, we lease approximately 20,500 square feet of office space in Chicago,
Illinois under a lease expiring in 2011, all of which is subleased under terms expiring in 2011; and 3,900 square
feet of office space in London, England under a lease expiring in 2011, of which approximately one-half is
subleased under terms expiring in 2011.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in contractual disputes, litigation and potential claims arising in the ordinary course of
business. We do not believe that the resolution of these matters will have a material adverse effect on our
financial position or results of operations. We are not a party to any material pending legal proceedings.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITYHOLDERS

None.
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PARTII

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock has traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “IMNY” since our initial
public offering on July 13, 2000. The following table sets forth the high and low closing sales prices per share for
our common stock as reported on the Nasdaq National Market for each full quarterly period within the two most
recent fiscal years. As of March 1, 2005, there were 220 holders of record of our common stock.

Price Range of
Commeon Stock

Three Months Ended & Low

December 31, 2004 ... $1.62 $0.81
September 30,2004 . ... .. e 1.17 0.68
June 30, 2004 . . ... e e e 1.38 1.06
March 31,2004 ......... . . e 1.68 1.00
December 31, 2003 ... 1.14 0.82
September 30,2003 ... ... 1.68 0.98
June 30, 2003 . . . e e 1.72 0.68
March 31, 2003 . . 1.57 0.73

I-many has never paid dividends and does not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future.

ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected condensed financial data presented below as of and for each of the years in the five-year period
ended December 31, 2004 are derived from our financial statements. Historical results are not necessarily
indicative of future results. The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our financial
statements and notes to those statements and other financial information included elsewhere in this report.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:

Totalnetrevenues .........c.c.cvuirnrnnenn... $ 38,330 $57,767 $54,746 $ 39412 $38413
Loss from continuing operations ............... (24,175 (21,207) (27,293) (39,491) (7,290)
Netlosspershare ........................... (1.12) (0.60) (0.69) (0.98) (0.18)
AS OF DECEMBER 31,
2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
(IN THOUSANDS)
BALANCE SHEET DATA:

Cash and cash equivalents .................... $ 50,639 $36,015 $35979 §$21,864 $17,698
Short-term investments . ...................... — — — 2,019 3,010
Working capital .. ....... ... ... . o 49,112 34,457 32,462 20,269 14,645
Total @SSELS ..ot v it e 85,388 91,138 84,564 49,569 44,198
Capital lease obligation, including current

POTHON .. vt e 173 188 808 837 160

Total stockholders’ equity .................... 68,761 75,256 66,216 29,155 25,870




ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction
with our financial statements and related notes. In addition to historical information, the following discussion and
other parts of this report contain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual
results may differ materially from those anticipated by such forward-looking statements due to various factors,
including, but not limited to, those set forth under “Certain Factors That May Affect Our Future Operating
Results” and elsewhere in this report.

OVERVIEW

We provide software and related services that allow our clients to more effectively manage their contract-
based, business-to-business relationships through the entirety of the contract management lifecycle. We operate
our business in two segments: health and life sciences and other industries. The health and life sciences line of
business markets and sells our products and services to companies in the life sciences industries, including
pharmaceutical and medical product companies, wholesale distributors and managed care organizations. Our
other industries line of business targets all other industries, with an emphasis on consumer products, foodservice,
disposables, consumer durables, industrial products, chemicals, apparel, and telecommunications.

Our primary products and services were originally developed to manage complex contract purchasing
relationships in the healthcare industry. Our software is currently licensed by 22 of the 25 largest world-wide
pharmaceutical manufacturers, ranked according to 2003 annual healthcare revenues. As the depth and breadth of
our product suites have expanded, we have added companies in the other industries markets to our customer base.

We have generated revenues from both products and services. Product revenues—which through mid 2001
had been principally comprised of software license fees generated from our I-many/CARS software suite and .
now includes licensing of our I-many ContractSphere® Enterprise Contract Management Product Suite,
Government Pricing and Medicaid compliance software, and collection products—accounted for 36.3% of net
revenues in 2003 and 29.4% of net revenues in 2004. Service revenues include maintenance and support fees
directly related to our licensed software products, professional service fees derived from consulting, installation,
business analysis and training services related to our software products and hosting fees. Service revenues
accounted for 63.7% of net revenues in 2003 and 70.6% of net revenues in 2004.

From June 2001 through March 2004, we implemented a number of employee headcount reductions, which
have been partially offset by employee additions through acquisitions and selective hiring, and we have taken
other measures to better align our cost structure with projected revenues. Our aggregate spending on sales and
marketing, research and development and general and administrative expenses has been reduced from $12.6
million in the quarter ended June 30, 2001 to $5.8 million in the quarter ended September 30, 2004 and $7.3
million in the quarter ended December 31, 2004. During 2003 and the first quarter of 2004, actions taken to
reduce our operating expenses included the closing of our Chicago, lllinois office, the significant downsizing of
our London, England and Portland, Maine operations and selective other headcount reductions. Our total
employee headcount has decreased from 358 employees at December 31, 2002 to 198 employees at December
31, 2003 and 176 employees at December 31, 2004.

In December 2004, we announced an agreement to merge our Company with Selectica, Inc. for an all-cash
purchase price to our shareholders of $1.55 per outstanding share, subject to the approval of our shareholders and
other conditions. To date, all significant conditions to the closing of this sale have been satisfied except for
shareholder approval. The special meeting of shareholders of our Company to consider and vote upon the
proposed sale is scheduled for March 30, 2005. Certain major shareholders have publicly announced their
opposition to the merger, and accordingly we cannot assure you that the merger will be approved. On March 1,
the closing price of our common stock on Nasdag was $1.59 per share.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Revenue Recognition

We generate revenues from licensing our software and providing professional services, training and
maintenance and support services. Software license revenues are attributable to the addition of new customers
and the expansion or renewal of existing customer relationships through licenses covering additional users,
licenses of additional software products and license renewals.

We recognize software license fees upon execution of a signed license agreement and delivery of the
software to customers, provided there are no significant post-delivery obligations, the payment is fixed or
determinable and collection is probable. In multiple-element arrangements, we allocate the total fee to professional
services, training and maintenance and support services based on the fair value of those elements, which is defined
as the price charged when those elements are sold separately. The residual amount is then allocated to the software
license fee. If an acceptance period is required, revenues are deferred until customer acceptance. In cases where
collection is not deemed probable, we recognize the license fee as payments are received.

Service revenues include professional services, training and maintenance and support services and out-of-
pocket reimbursable expenses. Professional service revenues are recognized as the services are performed. If
conditions for acceptance exist, professional service revenues are recognized upon customer acceptance. For fixed
fee professional service contracts, we provide for anticipated losses in the period in which the loss is probable and
can be reasonably estimated. Training revenues are recognized as the services are provided. Included in training
revenues are registration fees received from participants in our off-site User Training Conferences.

Maintenance and customer support fees are recognized ratably over the term of the maintenance contract,
which is generally twelve months. When maintenance and support is included in the total license fee, we allocate
a portion of the total fee to maintenance and support based upon the price paid by the customer when sold
separately, generally as renewals in the second year.

Payments received from customers at the inception of a maintenance period are treated as deferred service
revenues and recognized ratably over the maintenance period. Payments received from customers in advance of
product shipment or revenue recognition are treated as deferred product revenues and recognized when the
product is shipped to the customer or when otherwise earned. Substantially all of the amounts included in cost of
revenues represent direct costs related to the delivery of professional services, training and maintenance and
customer support.

In 2004, we began offering current and prospective customers the option to enter into a subscription
agreement as an alternative to our standard license contract model. The standard subscription arrangement is
presently a three-year, fixed fee agreement, covering license fees and maintenance and support, payable in 12
equal quarterly installments commencing upon execution of the agreement. Due to the extended payment terms,
the installment payments are recognized as product revenue ratably over the term of the subscription agreement.
During the year ended December 31, 2004, $102,000 in revenue was recognized related to such agreements.

We account for consideration given to a customer or a reseller of our products as a reduction of revenue in
certain circumstances. To the extent that cumulative consideration earned by a customer or reseller during a
reporting period exceeds revenue earned by the Company from the customer or reseller, such excess is reported
as sales and marketing expense.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We record provisions for doubtful accounts based on a detailed assessment of our accounts receivable and
related credit risks. In estimating the allowance for doubtful accounts, management considers the age of the
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accounts receivables, our historical write-off experience, the credit worthiness of customers and the economic
conditions of the customers’ industries and general economic conditions, among other factors. Should any of
these factors change, the estimates made by management will also change, which could affect the level of the
Company’s future provision for doubtful accounts. If the assumptions we used to calculate these estimates do not
properly reflect future collections, there could be an impact on future reported results of operations. The
provisions for doubtful accounts are included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated
statements of operations.

Acquired Intangible Assets

Acquired intangible assets (excluding goodwill) are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives and reviewed for impairment on an annual basis, or on an interim basis if an event or circumstance
occurs between annual tests indicating that the assets might be impaired. The impairment test will consist of
comparing the cash flows expected to be generated by the acquired intangible asset to its carrying amount. If the
asset is considered to be impaired, an impairment loss will be recognized in an amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. Acquired intangible assets with indefinite useful lives will not be
amortized until their lives are determined to be definite.

Goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment using a two-step approach. The first step is to compare the fair value of a
reporting unit to its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair value of the reporting unit is greater than its
carrying amount, goodwill is not considered impaired and the second step is not required. If the fair value of the
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, the second step of the impairment test measures the amount of the
impairment loss, if any, by comparing the implied fair value of goodwill to its carrying amount. If the carrying
amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, an impairment loss is recognized equal to that excess. The
implied fair value of goodwill is calculated in the same manner that goodwill is calculated in a business
combination, whereby the fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to all of the assets and liabilities of that unit
(including any unrecognized intangible assets), with the excess “purchase price” over the amounts assigned to
assets and liabilities representing the implied fair value of goodwill. Goodwill is tested for impairment at least
annually, or on an interim basis if an event occurs or circumstances change that would likely reduce the fair value
of a reporting unit below its carrying value.

Deferred Tax Assets

A deferred tax asset or liability is recorded for temporary differences in the bases of assets and liabilities for
book and tax purposes and loss carry forwards based on enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when these
temporary items are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are provided to the extent it is more likely than
not that all or a portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Product Indemnification

The Company’s agreements with customers generally include certain provisions for indemnifying the
customer against losses, expenses, and liabilities from damages that may be awarded against the customer in the
event that our products are found to infringe upon a patent, copyright, trademark, or other proprietary right of a
third party. The agreements generally seek to limit the scope of remedies for such indemnification obligations in
a variety of industry-standard respects, including our right to replace an infringing product. To date, we have not
had to reimburse any of our customers for any losses related to these indemnification provisions and no claims
are outstanding as of December 31, 2004. We do not expect that any significant impact on financial position or
the results of operations will result from these indemnification provisions.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003
NET REVENUES

Net revenues decreased by $1.0 million, or 2.5%, to $38.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004
from $39.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Product revenues decreased by $3.0 million, or
21.1%, to $11.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, while service revenues increased by $2.0 million
or 8.0%. The value of license contracts (minimum price of $50,000) sold during 2004 decreased 32.1% relative
to 2003, due primarily to a 33.1% decrease in average selling price. Product revenues in 2004 included the
recognition of $3.4 million in license fees that had been previously deferred in 2003. Other factors affecting
product revenue recognition in 2004 were the consummation of several subscription arrangements during 2004
and the deferral of $1.6 million of license fee revenue in connection with three license transactions executed
during the fourth quarter of 2004. As we work to increase our sales outside the health and life sciences segment
(in our “Other Industries” segment), we believe a similar or larger proportion of our new customers will place
conditions on their license purchases that will require us to defer recognition of license revenue until later
reporting periods. We believe that software acceptance testing by new customers, in particular, is a growing trend
for customers in the markets we target outside of health and life sciences.

Revenues in the health and life sciences segment were $1.9 million higher in 2004 than in 2003, attributabie
to a $3.6 million increase in service revenue as we continued to experience a reduced pipeline of sales
opportunities in this segment. As a percentage of total net revenues, revenues derived from our Other Industries
segment were 27.3% in 2004, as compared to 34.0% in 2003 and 31.5% in 2002. Our new products in the I-many
ContractSphere® Enterprise Contract Management (ECM) Product Suite, which are targeted primarily to
customers in the “Other Industries” segment, remained in early-stage releases, which limited our ability to derive
revenues from them. We continue to believe that, as economic conditions improve and the market for our ECM
Suite begins to move past an early adopter stage, which we believe to be the general but uncertain trend, as
evidenced by the improvement in our sales results in the fourth quarter of 2004, we anticipate corresponding
improvement in demand for our newer products.

As a percentage of total net revenues, product revenues decreased to 29.4% for the year ended December
31, 2004 from 36.3% for the year ended December 31, 2003. This decrease in product revenues as a percentage
of total net revenues is principally attributable to the reduction in health and life science revenues discussed
above. The $2.0 million increase in service revenues in 2004 was attributable to a $1.2 million increase in
professional services revenue, which was attributable to an increase in large software implementations, and a
$872,000 increase in maintenance and support revenue, which was attributable to a net increase in the
Company’s fee-paying instalied customer base.

COST OF REVENUES

Cost of revenues consists primarily of payroll and related costs and subcontractor costs for providing
professional services and maintenance and support services and, to a lesser extent, amounts due to third parties
for royalties related to integrated technology. Historically, cost of product revenues has not been a significant
component of total cast of revenues. Cost of revenues decreased by $295,000, or 1.9%, to $15.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2004 from $15.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Significant reductions
in salaries and related costs, attributable to a reduction in technical support and professional services headcount
from an average of 88.5 during 2003 to an average of 78 during 2004, partially offset by higher non-cash stock
compensation costs, accounted for most of the decrease in spending.

As a percentage of total net revenues, cost of revenues increased slightly to 40.5% for the year ended
December 31, 2004 from 40.2% for the year ended December 31, 2003. This increase in cost of revenues as a
percentage of total net revenues is attributable to the decrease in product revenues and corresponding increase in
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service revenues as percentages of total revenues. Service revenues have typically generated lower margins than
product revenues, and we believe that this trend will continue in the foreseeable future.

OPERATING EXPENSES

SALES AND MARKETING. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of payroll and related benefits
for sales and marketing personnel, commissions for sales personnel, travel costs, recruiting fees, expenses for
trade shows and advertising and public relations expenses. During 2003, sales and marketing expenses also
included a non-cash charge of $795,000 related to the value associated with the granting of a common stock
warrant to Procter & Gamble. Excluding the non-cash warrant charge, sales and marketing expense decreased by
$6.3 million, or 41.0%, to $9.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2004 from $15.3 million in the year
ended December 31, 2003. Significant reductions in salaries and related costs, attributable to a reduction in sales
and marketing headcount from an average of 64 during 2003 to an average of 32.5 during 2004, combined with
decreased spending for meetings and travel and entertainment, accounted for most of the decrease in spending.
As a percentage of total net revenues, sales and marketing expense (excluding the non-cash warrant charge)
decreased significantly to 23.5% in 2004 versus 38.8% in 2003.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT. Research and development expenses consist primarily of payroll and
related costs for development personnel and external consulting costs associated with the development and
maintenance of our products. Research and development costs, including the costs of developing computer
software, are charged to operations as they are incurred. Research and development expenses decreased by $4.9
million, or 29.1%, to $11.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $16.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003. Significant reductions in salaries and related costs, attributable to a reduction in
development headcount from an average of 108 during 2003 to an average of 52 during 2004, partially offset by
higher non-cash stock compensation costs, accounted for most of the decrease in spending. As a percentage of
total net revenues, research and development expense decreased significantly to 30.9% for the year ended
December 31, 2004 from 42.5% for the year ended December 31, 2003.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries
and related costs for personnel in our administrative, finance and human resources departments, insurance costs,
and legal, accounting and other professional service fees. General and administrative expenses decreased by
$340,000, or 5.8%, to $5.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $5.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003. This decrease is principally attributable to reductions in salaries, benefits and related costs,
resulting from a decrease in administrative headcount from an average of 22.5 during 2003 to an average of 14
during 2004, and reduced legal and casualty insurance costs, partially offset by higher non-cash stock
compensation costs and merger costs of $455,000 incurred in connection with the proposed merger with
Selectica. As a percentage of total net revenues, general and administrative expenses decreased to 14.5% for the
year ended December 31, 2004 from 14.9% for the year ended December 31, 2003.

DEPRECIATION. Depreciation expense decreased by $929,000, or 50.3%, to $917,000 in the year ended
December 31, 2004 from $1.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2003. The decrease is primarily
attributable to significant levels of computer, software and related equipment acquired in 2000 and 2001
becoming fully depreciated in 2003 and 2004. Also, property and equipment with a net book value of $267,000
was written off during the first quarter of 2004, further reducing the depreciable asset base. Since the annual
property and equipment additions during the 2000 and 2001 timeframe ($3.9 million and $1.8 million,
respectively) were significantly higher than the software and equipment additions in 2003 ($650,000) and 2004
($698,000), this reduction in annual depreciation expense is expected to continue into 2005,

AMORTIZATION OF OTHER ACQUIRED INTANGIBLE ASSETS. Amortization of other acquired
intangibles related to our acquisitions amounted to $1.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2004, which
represents a decrease of $523,000, or 26.3%, from the amortization of $2.0 million in 2003. This decrease is
attributable to the discontinued amortization of acquired intangibles for Chi-Cor Information Management, Inc.
(“ChiCor”) and BCL Vision Ltd. (“BCL”), pursuant to full impairment asset write-offs in June 2003.
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IN-PROCESS RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT. In connection with the acquisition of Pricing
Analytics, Inc. (“Pricing Analytics”) in April 2004, we allocated $290,000 of the total purchase price to in-
process research and development, which was expensed upon consummation of the acquisition, This allocation
was based on an independent appraisal conducted for the purpose of allocating the initial consideration to the
tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed. This allocation was attributable to one in-process
research and development project, which consisted of the development of significant new features and
functionality to an existing software product. Pricing Analytics had achieved significant technological milestones
on the project as of the acquisition date, but the project had not reached technological feasibility. At the time of
the acquisition, the project was approximately 35% to 40% complete. The Company invested approximately
$135,000 in the project following the acquisition. The project’s development progressed, in all material respects,
consistently with the assumptions that the Company had used for estimating its fair value. The project was
completed in October 2004.

IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL AND ACQUIRED INTANGIBLE ASSETS. In 2003, we incurred
impairment charges of $2.0 million with respect to acquired intangible assets and $14.8 million with respect to
goodwill, in connection with our acquisitions of ChiCor and BCL. No such charges were incurred during 2004.

TERMINATED DEAL TRANSACTION COSTS. In 2003, we incurred $1.1 million in deal-related
transaction costs in connection with the proposed sale of our health and life sciences business to Neoforma, Inc.
No such charges were incurred during 2004.

RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER CHARGES. In connection with the reduction of our leased space in
London, England and the significant reduction in our Portland, Maine operation, as part of our efforts to reduce
operating expenses and consolidate operations, we wrote off $692,000 in future lease obligations and recognized
$267,000 in equipment impairment charges during the year ended December 31, 2004. Also, we incurred
severance costs of $284,000 for employees whose employment was terminated during 2004 as part of this
downsizing effort and incurred $103,000 in ongoing restructuring charges related to the Chicago, [llinois office
that was closed in 2003. In 2003, we wrote off $1,891,000 in future lease obligations and recognized $160,000 in
equipment impairment charges in connection with the closing of our offices in Chicago and India and the
downsizing of our London operation. Also, we incurred severance costs of $555,000 for employees whose
employment was terminated during 2003 as part of this downsizing effort, and we recorded a $207,000 charge
representing the write-down in value of various property and equipment assets.

OTHER INCOME, NET

Other income, net, increased by $11,000, or 4.7%, from $233,000 in the year ended December 31, 2003, to
$244,000 in the year ended December 31, 2004. This decrease is attributable to an increase in interest income,
which resulted from higher interest rates during 2004.

INCOME TAXES

In 2004, we recorded an $82,000 benefit arising from a refund related to the carry back of an operating loss
to a pre-acquisition fiscal period for our subsidiary based in the United Kingdom. Other than this carried back
benefit, we incurred operating losses for all quarters in 2004 and 2003 and have consequently recorded a
valuation allowance for the full amount of our net deferred tax asset, which consists principally of our net
operating loss carryforwards, as the future realization of the tax benefit is uncertain. No provision or benefit for
income taxes was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2003.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002
NET REVENUES

Net revenues decreased by $15.3 million, or 28.0%, to $39.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2003
from $54.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. Product revenues decreased by $16.5 million, or
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53.6%, to $14.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, accounting for substantially all of the decrease in
net revenues as service revenues had increased by $1.2 million. The number of license contracts (minimum price
of $50,000) sold decreased by 50% from 97 to 49, accounting for the decrease in product revenues.

As a percentage of total net revenues, revenues derived from outside the health and life sciences segment
were 34.0% in 2003, as compared to 31.5% in 2002 and 24.3% in 2001. Meanwhile, 2003 revenues in the health
and life sciences segment were $11.5 million less than in 2002. The reduction in health and life sciences segment
revenues was due primarily to a reduced pipeline of sales opportunities in this segment. We believe this decrease
resulted from the reluctance of our target customers to make information technology expenditures during the
recent economic downturn, which lengthened sales cycles and reduced the number and quality of sales
opportunities available to us. We also believe that the aborted Neoforma transaction, which was announced in
July 2003 and terminated in December 2003, had a negative impact on new product sales into the health and life
sciences market for most of the second half of the year, due to perceived uncertainty about the future of these
products and their support. Finally, in 2003 our new products in the I-many ContractSphere® Enterprise Contract
Management Product Suite remained in development or in early-stage releases, which limited our ability to
derive revenues from them and hindered our ability to reduce our reliance on our older products.

As a percentage of total net revenues, product revenues decreased to 36.3% for the year ended December
31, 2003 from 56.3% for the year ended December 31, 2002. This decrease in product revenues as a percentage
of total net revenues is principally attributable to the reduction in health and life science revenues discussed
above. The $1.2 million increase in service revenues in 2003 was due to a $1.4 million increase in maintenance
and support revenue, which was attributable to a net increase in the Company’s fee-paying installed customer
base, partially offset by a $230,000 reduction in professional services revenues. ‘

COST OF REVENUES

Cost of revenues increased by $1.4 million, or 9.9%, to $15.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2003
from $14.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. This increase is primarily due to a $1.9 million
increase in subcontractor consulting costs, partially offset by a $573,000 reduction in travel expenses as
compared to 2002. Approximately $1.0 million of the increase in subcontractor costs was related to our decisions
to outsource support and hosting activities related to certain of the Company’s products. Much of the balance of
the subcontractor cost increase represents the non-recurring impact of delayed hiring decisions within the
professional services organization that were a consequence of Neoforma’s planned acquisition of our health and
life sciences business segment.

As a percentage of total net revenues, cost of revenues increased to 40.2% for the year ended December 31,
2003 from 26.3% for the year ended December 31, 2002. This increase in cost of revenues as a percentage of
total net revenues is attributable to the decrease in product revenues and corresponding increase in service
revenues as percentages of total revenues, and to the increase in subcontractor costs discussed above. Service
revenues have typically generated lower margins than product revenues, and we believe that trend will continue
in the foreseeable future.

OPERATING EXPENSES

SALES AND MARKETING. Excluding the non-cash warrant charge in 2003 related to the value associated
with granting a common stock warrant to Procter & Gamble, sales and marketing expense decreased by $6.0
million, or 28.1%, to $15.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2003 from $21.3 million in the year ended
December 31, 2002. Significant reductions in sales and marketing headcount—36 employees at December 31,
2003 versus 101 at December 31, 2002—combined with a more than 50 percent decrease in commissionable
product revenues—were the principal reasons for a $5.2 million decrease in salaries and commission expenses
and a $730,000 decrease in travel expenses. As a percentage of total net revenues, sales and marketing expense
(excluding the non-cash warrant charge) remained nearly unchanged at 38.8% in 2003 versus 38.9% in 2002.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT. Research and development expenses decreased by $474,000, or
2.8%, to $16.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 from $17.2 million for the year ended December
31, 2002. Significant reductions in salaries and related costs, attributable to a reduction in development
headcount from 126 at December 31, 2002 to 72 at December 31, 2003, were largely offset by a $1.5 million
increase in external consulting costs resulting from a planned increase in the outsourcing of development work to
an offshore entity. As a percentage of total net revenues, research and development expense increased
significantly to 42.5% for the year ended December 31, 2003, from 31.4% for the year ended December 31,
2002.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE. General and administrative expenses decreased by $992,000, or
14.4%, to $5.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 from $6.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2002. This decrease is principally attributable to reductions in salaries, benefits and related costs, resulting from a
decrease in administrative headcount from 28 at December 31, 2002 to 14 at December 31, 2003, and a $301,000
reduction in the provision for doubtful accounts relative to 2002. As a percentage of total net revenues, general
and administrative expenses increased to 14.9% for the year ended December 31, 2003 from 12.6% for the year
ended December 31, 2002.

DEPRECIATION. Depreciation expense decreased by $515,000, or 21.8%, to $1.8 million in the year ended
December 31, 2003 from $2.4 miilion in the year ended December 31, 2002. The decrease is attributable to
computer and related equipment acquired in 1999 and 2000 becoming fully depreciated in 2002 and 2003. Since
the average annual computer equipment additions during the 1999 and 2000 timeframe (approximately $1.5
million each year) were significantly higher than the rate of computer equipment additions in 2002 ($933,000)
and 2003 ($650,000), this decrease in depreciation expense is expected to continue into 2004.

AMORTIZATION OF OTHER ACQUIRED INTANGIBLE ASSETS. Amortization of other acquired
intangibles related to our acquisitions amounted to $2.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2003, which
represents a decrease of $3.1 million, or 60.6%, from the amortization of $5.0 million in 2002. This decrease is
attributable to the discontinued amortization of acquired intangibles (i) for Intersoft International, Inc.
(“Intersoft™), Provato, Inc. (“Provato”) and Ozro, Inc. (“Ozro™), pursuant to the full impairment write-offs of
these assets in December 2002, and (ii) for Chi-Cor and BCL, pursuant to full impairment write-offs in June
2003.

IN-PROCESS RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT. In connection with the acquisition of Menerva
Technologies, Inc. (“Menerva”) in March 2002, we allocated $1.0 million of the total purchase price to in-
process research and development, which was expensed upon consummation of the acquisition. This allocation
was based on an independent appraisal conducted for the purpose of allocating the initial consideration to the
tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed. This allocation was attributable to one in-process
research and development project, which consisted of the development of significant new features and
functionality to an existing software product. Menerva had achieved significant technological milestones on this
specific project as of the acquisition date, but the project had not reached technological feasibility. At the time of
the acquisition, the project was approximately 60% complete. The Company invested an additional $350,000 in
the project following the acquisition. The project’s development, which progressed in all material respects
consistently with the assumptions that the Company had used for estimating its fair value, was subsequently
completed in May 2002.

IMPAIRMENT OF GOCDWILL AND ACQUIRED INTANGIBLE ASSETS. In the quarter ended June 30,
2003, we determined that an interim test for impairment to the Company’s goodwill and other acquired
intangible assets was necessary pursuant to the July 2003 announcement of the proposed sale of our health and
life sciences business to Neoforma. In conjunction with the proposed sale to Neoforma, we made plans to reduce
our workforce and focus our near-term development efforts primarily on our product offerings in the I-many
ContractSphere® Enterprise Contract Management Product Suite. The consequent de-emphasis on the
technologies originally acquired in the acquisitions of ChiCor and BCL and the corresponding reduction in
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projected sales of the related products had resulted in the determination that future cash flows were not sufficient
to support the valuations of the ChiCor and BCL long-lived assets. As a result of our assessment, the Company
recorded impairment charges of $9.2 million and $7.6 million, respectively, associated with our acquisitions of
Chi-Cor and BCL. These impairment charges were recorded in the Other Industries reportable segment and-
included impairment of goodwill totaling $14.8 million and of other acquired intangible assets totaling $2.0
million. In the quarter ended December 31, 2002, we recorded impairment charges of $10.9 million, $1.3 million
and $1.1 million, associated with our acquisitions of Provato and Intersoft and our November 2001 technology
purchase from Ozro, respectively.

TERMINATED DEAL TRANSACTION COSTS. In connection with the termination of the sale of our
health and life sciences business to Neoforma, we incurred $1.1 million in deal-related transaction costs.
Included in this amount were legal fees of $543,000, investment banking charges of $255,000, accountant fees
and expenses of $160,000 and other charges of $163,000.

RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER CHARGES. In connection with the closures of our Chicago and India
offices, the planned reduction of our leased space in London and the significant reduction in our Portland, Maine
operations, as part of our efforts to reduce operating expenses and consolidate operations, we wrote off $1.9
million in future lease obligations and recognized $160,000 in equipment impairment charges during the year
ended December 31, 2003. Also, we incurred severance costs of $555,000 for employees whose employment was
terminated during 2003 as part of this downsizing effort. In addition, we recorded a $207,000 charge representing
the write-down in value of various property and equipment assets during the quarter ended March 31, 2003
unrelated to the restructuring of operations. In 2002, we recorded a $780,000 charge which represented a write-
off of the net carrying value of our investment in Tibersoft Corporation, a privately-held technology company.

OTHER INCOME, NET

Other income, net, decreased by $18,000, or 7.2%, from $251,000 in the year ended December 31, 2002, to
$233,000 in the year ended December 31, 2003. This decrease is attributable to a decrease in interest income,
which resulted from lower average cash balances and reduced interest rates during 2003.

INCOME TAXES

We incurred operating losses for all quarters in 2003 and 2002 and have consequently recorded a valuation
allowance for the full amount of our net deferred tax asset, which consists principally of our net operating loss
carryforwards, as the future realization of the tax benefit is uncertain. No provision or benefit for income taxes
has been recorded for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

On February 20, 2002, we completed a private placement of common stock, preferred stock and warrants,
resulting in our receipt of $25.0 million in gross proceeds. Of this amount, $17.0 million, representing the
purchase price of the preferred stock, was held in an escrow account pending conversion of the preferred stock
into common stock. At our election, the $17.0 million in preferred stock was redeemed on July 2, 2002.

In 2002 and 2003, we entered into several capital lease financing arrangements with a financial institution.
Under the terms of the financings, the aggregate proceeds of $1.4 million were deposited in a restricted bank
account. At December 31, 2004, $161,000 of the remaining aggregate proceeds were restricted, all of which is
classified as current restricted cash in the consolidated balance sheet. The non-current restricted cash balance of
$663,000 at December 31, 2004 represents cash amounts held on deposit as security on two long-term lease
obligations.

At December 31, 2004, we had net working capital of $14.6 million, including cash and cash equivalents of
$17.7 million and short-term investments of $3.0 million. Also on December 31, 2004, we had no long-term or
short-term debt, other than obligations under capital lease financings.
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Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2004 was $2.3 million, as compared
to net cash used in operating activities of $11.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2003. For the year ended
December 31, 2004, net cash used in operating activities consisted of the net loss of $7.3 million, as offset by the
following non-cash items which total $7.0 million: depreciation and amortization of $2.4 million, restructuring
and other charges of $1.3 million, in-process research and development of $290,000, and non-cash warrant,
option and stock charges of $3.0 million. Other uses of cash included a $2.9 million decrease in accrued
expenses, which was principally comprised of (i) $1.2 million in 2004 lease and severance payments related to
downsized facilities and employee severances, (ii) $660,000 reduction in the accrual related to discontinued self-
funded employee insurance programs, and (iii) $611,000 decrease in accrued consulting and professional service
fees. For the year ended December 31, 2003, net cash used in operating activities consisted of the net loss of
$39.5 million, as offset by the following non-cash items which total $25.8 million: depreciation and amortization
of $3.8 million, impairment of goodwill and acquired intangible assets of $16.8 million, restructuring and other
charges of $2.8 million, and non-cash warrant, option and stock charges of $2.4 million. Offsetting this adjusted
net loss was a $2.3 million decrease in accounts receivable (net of provision for doubtful accounts of $169,000)
and a $3.4 million increase in deferred revenue, partially offset by a $4.0 million decrease in accrued expenses.

Net cash used in investing activities was $2.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 and $2.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December
31, 2004 consisted of $4.5 million in purchases of short-term investments, $882,000 related to the acquisition of
Pricing Analytics and $698,000 in purchases of property and equipment, partially offset by $3.5 million in
redemptions of short-term investments. Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31,
2003 consisted principally of $2.0 million in purchases of short-term investments.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $708,000 in the year ended December 31, 2004, comprised of
$961,000 of stock option and warrant exercises and a $424,000 decrease in restricted cash, partially offset by
payments of $677,000 on existing capital leases. Net cash used in financing activities was $894,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2003, mostly comprised of payments on existing capital leases and an increase in restricted
cash.

We currently anticipate that our cash and cash equivalents of $17.7 million and short-term investments of
$3.0 million will be sufficient to meet our anticipated needs for working capital, capital expenditures, and
acquisitions for at least the next 12 months. Our future long-term capital needs will depend significantly on the
rate of growth of our business, possible acquisitions, the timing of expanded product offerings and the success of
these offerings if and when they are launched. Accordingly, any projections of future long-term cash needs and
cash flows are subject to substantial uncertainty. If our current balance of cash and cash equivalents is
insufficient to satisfy our long-term liquidity needs, we may seek to sell additional equity or debt securities to
raise funds, and those securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of the rights of our
common stock. In connection with such a sale of stock, our stockholders may experience dilution. In addition, we
cannot be certain that additional financing will be available to us on favorable terms when required, or at all. Our
current stock price may make it difficult for us to raise additional equity financing.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS—ASs of December 31, 2004
Payments due by Period—Amounts in $000s

Total 2005 2006-2008 2009-2019 Thereafter
Long-Term Debt Obligations ........................ $ — $ — $ — $§ — $ —
Capital Lease Obligations, including interest .. .......... 164 164 — — —
Operating Lease Obligations ........................ 9,665 1,795 3,249 2,905 1,716
Unconditional Purchase Obligations—Pricing Analytics . . . . 248 248 — — —

Total Contractual Obligations ........................ $10,077 $2,207 $3249  $2,905 $1,716




CERTAIN FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

In addition to other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the following factors could cause
actual results to differ materially from those indicated by forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K and presented elsewhere by management from time to time.

WE WILL NEED TO GROW IN MARKETS OTHER THAN THE HEALTHCARE MARKET FOR OUR
FUTURE GROWTH

We will need to be successful in our efforts to reduce our reliance on the health and life sciences market,
which has traditionally been the primary source of our revenues. Revenues from our non-healthcare customers
have comprised 27.3%, 34.0% and 31.5%, respectively, of our consolidated revenues for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002. The Company must continue to evolve its products and marketing strategies
in order to be successful in these markets. We have not been successful in generating the revenue we expected
from these markets and we cannot assure you that we will be successful in the future. Although we have had
some success in selling to markets outside of healthcare, we have not yet demonstrated that our product offerings
have significant appeal in many of the markets we are targeting.

THE BID PRICE OF OUR COMMON STOCK ON THE NASDAQ NATIONAL MARKET HAS BEEN
BELOW $1.00 PER SHARE, AND IF THE BID PRICE AGAIN FALLS BELOW $1.00 PER SHARE FOR AN
EXTENDED PERIOD, OUR COMMON STOCK MAY BE DELISTED FROM THE NASDAQ NATIONAL
MARKET WHICH COULD REDUCE THE LIQUIDITY OF OUR COMMON STOCK AND ADVERSELY
AFFECT OUR ABILITY TO RAISE ADDITIONAL NECESSARY CAPITAL

In April 2003 we received written notification from Nasdaq that we were not in compliance with Nasdaq
Marketplace Rule 4450(b)(4) because the closing bid price of our common stock was below $1.00 for 30
consecutive trading days. We subsequently regained compliance when the bid price of our common stock closed
at $1.00 per share or more for 10 consecutive trading days. This process occurred again in September 2004, when
we received a similar notice of deficiency, and for which we regained compliance in November 2004. If the
closing bid price of our common stock again falls below $1.00 per share for 30 consecutive trading days and we
do not regain compliance, we would be delisted from the Nasdaq National Market. The delisting of our common
stock may result in the trading of the stock on the Nasdaq SmallCap or the OTC Bulletin Board. Consequently, a
delisting of our common stock from the Nasdaqg National Market may reduce the liquidity of our common stock,
adversely affect our ability to raise additional necessary capital and could adversely affect our sales efforts.

WE HAVE INCURRED SUBSTANTIAL LOSSES IN RECENT YEARS AND OUR RETURN TO
PROFITABILITY IS UNCERTAIN

We incurred net losses of $27.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2002, $39.5 million in the year
ended December 31, 2003 and $7.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2004, and we had an accumulated
deficit at December 31, 2004 of $125.1 million. Our recent results have been impacted by a number of factors
that caused current and prospective customers to defer, or otherwise not make, purchases from us, and we cannot
assure you that we will not be affected by these or other factors in future periods. We cannot assure you that we
will achieve sufficient revenues to become profitable in the future.

IT IS DIFFICULT FOR US TO PREDICT WHEN OR IF SALES WILL OCCUR AND WE OFTEN INCUR
SIGNIFICANT SELLING EXPENSES IN ADVANCE OF OUR RECOGNITION OF ANY RELATED
REVENUE

Qur clients view the purchase of our software applications and related professional services as a significant
and strategic decision. As a result, clients carefully evaluate our software products and services. The length of
this evaluation process is affected by factors such as the client’s need to rapidly implement a solution and
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whether the client is new or is extending an existing implementation. The license of our software products may
also be subject to delays if the client has lengthy internal budgeting, approval and evaluation processes which are
quite common in the context of introducing large enterprise-wide technology solutions. We may incur significant
selling and marketing expenses during a client’s evaluation period, including the costs of developing a full
proposal and completing a rapid proof of concept or demonstration, before the client places an order with us.
Clients may also initially purchase a limited number of licenses before expanding their implementations. Larger
clients may purchase our software products as part of multiple simultaneous purchasing decisions, which may
result in additional unplanned administrative processing and other delays in the recognition of our license
revenues. If revenues forecasted from a significant client for a particular quarter are not realized or are delayed,
as has occurred in recent quarters, we may experience an unplanned shortfall in revenues during that quarter.
This may cause our operating results to be below the expectations of public market analysts or investors, which
could cause the value of our common stock to decline.

OUR FIXED COSTS HAVE LED, AND WILL CONTINUE TO LEAD, TO FLUCTUATIONS IN
OPERATING RESULTS WHICH HAVE RESULTED, AND COULD IN THE FUTURE RESULT, IN A
DECLINE OF OUR STOCK PRICE

A significant percentage of our expenses, particularly personnel costs and rent, are fixed costs and are based
in part on expectations of future revenues. We may be unable to reduce spending in a timely manner to
compensate for any significant fluctuations in revenues. Accordingly, shortfalls in revenues, as we experienced
in recent quarters, may cause significant variations in operating results in any quarter. Qur stock price has been
impacted by the failure of our quarterly results to meet the expectations of market analysts and investors, and it
could decline further.

WE HAVE MULTIPLE FACILITIES AND WE MAY EXPERIENCE DIFFICULTIES IN OPERATING
FROM THESE FACILITIES

We will continue to operate out of our corporate headquarters in Edison, New Jersey, our primary
engineering office in Redwood City, California and facilities in Portland, Maine and London, England. The
geographic distance between our offices makes it more difficult for our management and other employees to
collaborate and communicate with each other than if they were all located in a single facility, and, as a result,
increases the strain on our managerial, operational and financial resources. Also, a significant number of our
sales and professional services employees work remotely out of home offices, which will potentially add to this
strain.

WE MAY NOT BE SUCCESSFUL IN DEVELOPING OR ACQUIRING NEW TECHNOLOGIES OR
BUSINESSES AND THIS COULD HINDER OUR EXPANSION EFFORTS

We intend to continue our product research and development efforts at levels similar to current expenditures
and to consider additional acquisitions of or new investments in complementary businesses, products, services or
technologies. We cannot assure you that we will be successful in our product development efforts or we will be
able to identify appropriate acquisition or investment candidates. Even if we do identify suitable candidates, we
cannot assure you that we will be able to make such acquisitions or investments on commercially acceptable
terms. Furthermore, we may incur debt or issue equity securities to pay for any future acquisitions. The issuance
of equity securities could be dilutive to our existing stockholders and the issuance of debt could limit our
available cash and accordingly restrict our activities.

WE MAY MAKE ADDITIONAL ACQUISITIONS AND WE MAY HAVE DIFFICULTY INTEGRATING
THEM

Any company that we acquire will have a culture different from ours as well as technologies, products and
services that our employees will need to understand and integrate with our own. We have assimilated the
employees, technologies and products of the companies that we have previously acquired and will need to do the
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same with any new companies we may acquire, and that effort has been, and will likely continue to be difficult,
time-consuming and may be unsuccessful. If we are not successful, our investment in the acquired entity may be
impaired or lost, and even if we are successful, the process of integrating an acquired entity may divert our
attention from our core business.

IF WE DO ACQUIRE NEW TECHNOLOGIES OR BUSINESSES, OUR RESULTS OF OPERATIONS MAY
BE ADVERSELY AFFECTED

In connection with our acquisitions, we have recorded substantial goodwill and other purchased intangible
assets. In addition, we recorded charges for write-offs of a portion of the purchase prices of acquired companies
as in-process research and development. The carrying values of intangible assets and goodwill are reviewed for
impairment on a periodic basis. In the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, we recorded impairment
charges of $13.3 million and $16.8 million, respectively, in connection with the write-off of goodwill and other
purchased intangible assets. We cannot assure you that future write-downs of any such assets will not affect
future operating results.

WE HAVE MANY COMPETITORS AND POTENTIAL COMPETITORS AND WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO
COMPETE EFFECTIVELY

The market for our products and services is competitive and subject to rapid change. We encounter
significant competition for the sale of our contract management software from the internal information systems
departments of existing and potential clients, software companies that target the contract management markets
and professional services organizations. Our competitors vary in size and in the scope and breadth of products
and services offered. We anticipate increased competition for market share and pressure to reduce prices and
make sales concessions, which could materially and adversely affect our revenues and margins.

Many of our existing competitors, as well as a number of potential new competitors, have longer operating
histories, greater name recognition, larger customer bases and significantly greater financial, technical and
marketing resources than we do. Such competitors may also engage in more extensive research and development,
undertake more far-reaching marketing campaigns, adopt more aggressive pricing policies and make more
attractive offers to existing and potential employees and strategic partners. Our competitors could develop
products or services that are equal or superior to our solutions or that achieve greater market acceptance than our
solutions. In addition, current and potential competitors have established or may establish cooperative
relationships among themselves or with third parties. We may not be able to compete successfully, and
competitive pressures may require us to make concessions that will adversely affect our revenues and our
margins, or reduce the demand for our products and services.

WE RELY SIGNIFICANTLY UPON CERTAIN KEY INDIVIDUALS AND OUR BUSINESS WILL SUFFER
IF WE ARE UNABLE TO RETAIN THEM

We depend on the services of our senior management and key technical personnel. In particular, our success
depends on the continued efforts of A. Leigh Powell, our Chief Executive Officer, and other key employees. The
loss of the services of any key employee could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

ITEM 7A.QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
INTEREST RATE RISK

The Company’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relate primarily to the Company’s
investment portfolio. The Company does not use derivative financial instruments in its investment portfolio. The
primary objective of the Company’s investment activities is to preserve principal while maximizing yields
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without assuming significant risk. This is accomplished by investing in diversified investments, consisting
primarily of short-term investment-grade securities. Due to the nature of our investments, we believe there is no
material risk exposure. A 10% change in interest rates, either positive or negative, would not have had a
significant effect on interest income in the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004.

As of December 31, 2004, the Company’s cash and cash equivalents consisted entirely of money market
investments with remaining maturities of 90 days or less when purchased and non-interest bearing checking
accounts. Investments in marketable debt securities with maturities greater than 90 days and less than one year
are classified as short-term investments. All of the Company’s short-term investments are classified as held-to-
maturity and have been recorded at amortized cost. At December 31, 2004, the Company had $3.0 million of
held-to-maturity investments that consisted of three US Government agency securities and two corporate bonds.
Under current investment guidelines, maturities on short-term investments are restricted to one year or less.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
I-many, Inc.
Edison, New Jersey

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of I-many, Inc. as of December 31, 2004 and
the related consolidated statements of operations, redeemable preferred stock and stockholders’ equity, and cash
flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion. ’

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of I-many, Inc. at December 31, 2004, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of I-many, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) and our report dated March 8, 2005 expressed
an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP

BDO Seidman, LLP
Woodbridge, New Jersey

March 8, 2005
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of I-many, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of I-many, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
redeemable preferred stock and stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended
December 31, 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility 1s to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of I-many, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2003, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 15, 2004

29




I-MANY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share-related information)

December 31,
2003 2004
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cashequivalents .............c.oiiiiiiiinireienieann.. $ 21864 $ 17,698
Restricted Cash ... . oo e 871 161
Short-term INVESIMENES . . . . it e e e e 2,019 3,010
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $588 and $402 in 2003 and 2004,
FESPECHIVRLY .« .ot 10,057 9,964
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ............. .. ... i 819 518
Total CUITENT ASSELS . . .o ot e it it et et et e et e 35,630 31,351
Property and equipment, net . ... ... .. e 1,879 1,300
Restrictedcash ......c.. i i i S 377 663
T ASSEES . o vt ettt it e e e e 330 120
Acquired intangible assets, NBL . ... ... ... 2,822 2,097
GoodWill . .o 8,531 8,667
TOtal ASSEES . v o o v v e e e e e $ 49,569 $ 44,198
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable . ... .. ... $ 1483 $§ 2372
ACCTUCA BXPEISES . ¢ o vttt et e 5,989 4,199
Current portion of deferredrevenue .. ....... ... ... i 7,180 9,975
Current portion of capital lease obligations .............. .. ..o, 709 160
Total current liabilities . .. .. ... ... . e 15,361 16,706
Deferred revenue, net of current portion .. ......... ... ..t 3,816 275
Capital lease obligations, net of currentportion . . ............ ... .. il 128 —
Other long-term labilities ... ... ... .. i e 1,109 1,347
Total Habilities ... ... . i 20,414 18,328

Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)

Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock, $.01 par value
Designated—1,700 shares
Issued and outstanding—none . ......... .. i i e — —
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value
Authorized—35,000,000 shares; designated—1,700 shares
Issued and outstanding—none ............c. .., — —
Common stock, $.0001 par value
Authorized—100,000,000 shares
Issued and outstanding—40,550,590 and 42,720,060 shares in 2003 and

2004, respectively . ..ot e 4 4

Additional paid-incapital .. ... .. .. e 150,613 151,014
Deferred stock-based compensation .. ...ttt (3,680) 9D

Accumulated other comprehensive income ........... ... ... . il 43 58
Accumulated deficit ... ... . i e (117,825) (125,115)

Total stockholders’ equity .. ....... ...ttt 29,155 25,870

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ............ ... ... . ... ... $ 49,569 $ 44,198

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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I-MANY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per-share amounts)

Year ended December 31,

2002 2003 2004
Net Revenues:
ProdUCt . ..o $30,811 $ 14,287 $11,275
S TVICE .« ittt 23,935 25,125 27,138
Total NELTEVENUES .. .. oo e e e 54,746 39,412 38,413
Costofrevenues(l) . ... i e e e e e 14,425 15,860 15,565
Gross profit .. ...t 40,321 23,552 22,848
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing(1) .. ... ...ttt e e 21,275 16,087 9,020
Research and development(1) ......... ... ... ... ... .. ... .. ... ... 17,217 16,743 11,874
General and administrative(1) . ... ... e 6,884 5,892 5,552
Depreciation .. ..o v vt e e e 2,361 1,846 917
Amortization of acquired intangible assets ........... ... . ... ... .. 5,043 1,988 1,465
In-process research and development .............. ... ... ... ...... 1,000 — 290
Impairment of acquired intangible assets ................. ... .... 5,996 2,019 —
Impairment of goodwill ....... ... .. L 7,309 14,767 —
Terminated deal transaction coStS .. ... ottt — 1,121 —_—
Restructuring and other charges ........... ... ... ... ... 780 2,813 1,346
Total Operating EXpPenses . . ... vvvut ettt 67,865 63,276 30,464
L0ss from OPETAtIONS . .. ..ottt et ittt it ne e e (27,544) (39,724) (7,616)
Other income, net ....... e e e e e e 251 233 244
Loss before income taxes . ... ..ottt e (27,293) (39491 (7,372)
Benefit from INCOME taXes . . ..ot o it e e e e e — — (82)
Nt dOSS .ottt $(27,293) $(39,491) $(7.,290)
Basic and diluted net loss per common share ................ ... ... ..., .. $ (069 $ (098) $ (0.18)
Weighted average shares outstanding ......... ... ... .. ... 39,751 40,445 41,367
(1) Stock-based compensation amounts included above:
CoSt Of TEVENUES . .ottt et e $§ — $ 283 % 791
Salesand marketing . ....... ... — 295 269
Research and development ............. ..., — 592 1,219
General and adminisStrative .. ......... v uir it 189 335 750
Total stock-based compensation ... .............c.. i $ 189 $ 1,505 $ 3,029

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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I-MANY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Netloss ...
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization ............ ...,
In-process research and development ......... ... ... ... .. ....
Provision for restructuring and other charges ....................
Impairment of acquired intangible assets .......................
Impairmentof goodwill .. ... ... .. ...
Amortization of deferred stock-based compensation ..............
Provision for doubtfulaccounts . .......... ... . ... L
Non-cash marketing expense related to issuance of warrant . .. ......
Non-cash cost of revenue related to issuance of stock .............
Stock cOMPeENnsSation EXPenSe ...« .ovv et e e

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Restrictedcash . ...... . . ... .
Accountsreceivable . ... ... L Lo
Prepaid expense and other current assets ...................
Accountspayable ... ... ...
Accrued eXPeNnSeS .. ...t
Deferredrevenue ............oo i
Deferredrent .. ... i
Other assets .. ..o ittt

Net cash used in operating activities ...................

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment . ........ ... ...
Proceeds from disposition of property and equipment .................
Purchase of technology ......... ... .
Cash paid to acquire NetReturn, LLC .......... ... ... ... .. ... ...,
Cash paid to acquire Menerva Technologies, Inc. ....................
Cash paid to acquire Pricing Analytics,Inc. ........ ... ... ... .. ....
Purchases of short-term investments ..................covviieao..
Redemptions of short-term investments ...................oovnoon..
(Increase) decrease N OTher @ssetS . . ..ot ii it i e e ee s

Net cash used in investing activities ...................

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Net proceeds from private placement sale of common stock ............
Payments on capital lease obligations . ................ ... .. ... ...
Decrease (increase) inrestrictedcash ................ ... ... .......
Redemption of commonstock . ........ ... . ... . i i
Proceeds from exercise of stock options . ............ ... ... .. ... ..
Proceeds from exercise of common stock warrant ....................
Proceeds from Employee Stock Purchase Plan ............... ... ...

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities .......

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ..............................
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year . .......................

Cash and cash equivalents,end of year .. ................ ... ... ...

Year Ended December 31,

2002

2003

2004

$(27,293) $(39,491) $(7,290)

7,404 3,834 2,382
1,000 — 290
780 2,813 1,346
5,996 2,019 —
7309 14,767 —
47 1,505 3,029
970 169 220
20 795 —
. 75 —_—
142 — —
(383) 186 —
(80) 2,331 (93)
(337) 233 301
(794) 70 889
(1,086)  (3,973) (2,861
1,091 3,446 (746)
(40) 57 30
— — 163
(5,254) (11,164) (2,340)
(196) — (698)
— _ 37
N — —
(634) — —
(2,755) — —
— — (882)
_— (2,019)  (4,491)
— — 3,500
461 (38) —
(3,131)  (2,057) (2,534)
7,410 — —
(117 (622) (677)
(737) (314) 424
— (106) —
1,652 36 479
— — 300
141 112 182
8,349 (894) 708
(36) (14,115) (4,166)
36,015 35,979 21,864

$35979 §$ 21,864 $17,698




I-MANY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
(continued)

Years Ended December 31,

2002 2003 2004
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:
Cashpaid forinterest . ..........o it e $ 34 % 74 3% 30
Cash refunded for InCOME taXeS . . ... ..ottt $ — $ — § 82
Supplemental Disclosure of Non-cash Activities:
Cash consideration payable to former shareholders of Pricing Analytics,

IO, o $ — $ — $248
Issuance of warrants to purchase common Stock .. ............ooveeuro... $§ 20 $ 795 $—
Non-cash issuance of Stock . ... ...t $ 810 §$ 217 $—
Property and equipment acquired under capital leases ..................... $ 737 § 650 $—
Issuance of redeemable convertible preferred stock .............. ... .. .. $17,000 $§ — $-—
Redemption of redeemable convertible preferred stock .................... $17,000 $ — $—
Adjustments to acquisitions’ purchase price allocation . .................... $1847 § — $—
Increase (decrease) in deferred stock-based compensation, net of forfeitures ... $§ —  $5,122 $(560)

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) Operations and Significant Accounting Policies

I-many, Inc. (the “Company”) provides software solutions and related professional services that allow
customers to manage complex contract-based or trade agreement-based commitments. Historically, the
Company’s primary customer base has included parties involved in the sale and distribution of pharmaceutical
and other healthcare products, including manufacturers, purchasers, groups of purchasers and distributors. The
Company has since expanded the market reach of its product offerings, with customers in the consumer products,
foodservice, disposables, consumer durables, industrial products, chemicals, apparel, telecommunications and
other industries.

(a) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

(b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates. Major assets and liabilities that are subject to estimates include allowance for
doubtful accounts, goodwill and other acquired intangible assets, deferred tax assets and certain accrued
expenses.

(c) Revenue Recognition

Software license fees are recognized upon execution of a signed license agreement and delivery of the
software to customers, provided there are no significant post-delivery obligations, the payment is fixed or
determinable and collection is probable. If an acceptance period is required, revenues are deferred until customer
acceptance. In multiple-element arrangements, the total fee is allocated to the undelivered professional services,
training and maintenance and support services based on the fair value of those elements, which is defined as the
price charged when those elements are sold separately. The residual amount is then allocated to the software
license fee.

Service revenues include professional services, training, maintenance and support services and out-of-
pocket reimbursable expenses. Professional service revenues are recognized as the services are performed. If
conditions for acceptance exist, professional service revenues are recognized upon customer acceptance. For
fixed fee professional service contracts, anticipated losses are provided for in the period in which the loss is
probable and can be reasonably estimated. Training revenues are recognized as the services are provided.
Included in training revenues are registration fees received from participants in our off-site user training
conferences.

Maintenance and customer support fees are recognized ratably over the term of the maintenance contract,
which is generally twelve months. When maintenance and support is included in the total license fee, a portion of
the total fee is allocated to maintenance and support based upon the price paid by the customer when sold
separately, generally as renewals in the second year.

Payments received from customers at the inception of a maintenance period are treated as deferred service
revenues and recognized ratably over the maintenance period. Payments received from customers in advance of
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product shipment or revenue recognition are treated as deferred revenues and recognized when the product is
shipped to the customer or when otherwise earned. Substantially all of the amounts included in cost of revenues
represent direct costs related to the delivery of professional services, training and maintenance and customer
support.

Current and prospective customers have the option of entering into a subscription agreement as an
alternative to the Company’s standard license contract model. The standard subscription arrangement is presently
a three-year, fixed fee agreement, covering license fees and maintenance and support, payable in equal quarterly
installments commencing upon execution of the agreement. Due to the extended payment terms, the installment
payments are recognized as product revenue ratably over the term of the subscription agreement.

The Company accounts for consideration given to a customer or reseller of its products as a reduction of
revenue in certain circumstances. To the extent that cumulative consideration earned by a customer or reseller
during a reporting period exceeds revenue earned by the Company from the customer or reseller, such excess is
reported as sales and marketing expense.

(d) Product Indemnification

The Company’s agreements with customers generally include certain provisions for indemnifying the
customer against losses, expenses, and liabilities from damages that may be awarded against the customer in the
event that our products are found to infringe upon a patent, copyright, trademark, or other proprietary right of a
third party. The agreements generally limit the scope of remedies for such indemnification obligations in a
variety of industry-standard respects, including the Company’s right to replace an infringing product. To date, the
Company has not had to reimburse any of its customers for any losses related to these indemnification provisions
and no claims are outstanding as of December 31, 2004. The Company does not expect that any significant
impact on financial position or the results of operations will result from these indemnification provisions.

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment using a two-step approach. The first step compares the fair value of a
reporting unit to its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair value of the reporting unit is greater than its
carrying amount, goodwill is not considered impaired and the second step is not required. If the fair value of the
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, the second step of the impairment test measures the amount of the
impairment loss. if any, by comparing the implied fair value of goodwill to its carrying amount. If the carrying
amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, an impairment loss is recognized equal to that excess. The
implied fair value of goodwill is calculated in the same manner that goodwill is calculated in a business
combination, whereby the fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to all of the assets and liabilities of that unit
(including any unrecognized intangible assets), with the excess purchase price over the amounts assigned to
assets and liabilities representing the implied fair value of goodwill. Goodwill is tested for impairment at least
annually, or on an interim basis if an event occurs or circumstances change that would likely reduce the fair value
of a reporting unit below its carrying value.

In the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded a $7.3 million impairment charge representing
a full write-down of the carrying value of goodwill related to its acquisitions of Intersoft International, Inc. and
Provato, Inc. (see Note 12). In the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company recorded a $14.8 million
impairment charge representing a full write-down of the carrying value of goodwill related to its acquisitions of
Chi-Cor Information Management, Inc. and BCL Vision, Ltd. (See Note 12).

(f) Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

The Company considers all highly liquid securities with remaining maturities of 90 days or less when
purchased to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates fair value, and
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primarily consist of money market funds and overnight investments that are readily convertible to cash.
Restricted cash comprises amounts held in deposits that are required as collateral under various capital lease
financing arrangements, the lease of office space in the Company’s London office, and the sublease of unused
office space in the Company’s former Chicago office.

(g) Short-term Investments

Investments in marketable debt securities with maturities greater than 90 days and less than one year at time
of purchase are classified as short-term investments. Purchases and sales of marketable debt securities are
recorded on a trade-date basis. Dividend and interest income are recognized when earned. Realized gains and
losses from the sale of marketable debt securities are determined on a specific identification basis. There were no
realized gains or losses during 2003 or 2004. As of December 31, 2003 and 2004, all of the Company’s short-
term investments were classified as held-to-maturity and have been recorded at amortized cost. A decline in the
market value of a held-to-maturity security below amortized cost that is considered to be other than temporary
would result in a reduction in carrying amount to fair value. The impairment would be charged to earnings and a
new cost basis for the security would be established. There have been no impairments of held-to-maturity
securities during 2003 or 2004. At December 31, 2004, the Company had $3.0 million of held-to-maturity
investments that consisted of three US Government agency securities and two corporate bonds and the remaining
maturities of these securities ranged from 15 days to six months. At December 31, 2003, the Company had $2.0
million of held-to-maturity investments that consisted of a US Government agency security and a corporate bond
and the remaining maturities of these securities ranged from six months to 12 months.

(h) Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which are indicated in the table below. Repair and
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Estimated Useful
Mio_n Lives
Computer software . . . ... ... e 3 years
Computer hardware . ........ it i i e 3 years
Furniture and equipment .. ......... .. .. ... e 5-7 years
Leasehold improvements .. ............viiuteeerinnneiein. 5 years *
Developed technology ........ ... .. i 4 years

* Leasehold improvements are amortized over the asset’s estimated useful life or lease term, whichever is less.

(i) Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment on an annual basis, or on an interim basis if an event or
circumstance occurs between annual tests indicating that the assets might be impaired. The impairment test
consists of comparing the asset’s carrying amount to the related undiscounted future cash flows. If the fair value
is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that difference. As a
result of its reviews, the Company recorded asset impairment charges related to acquired intangible assets of $6.0
million and $2.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively. Also, the Company
wrote off the $780,000 net carrying value of its investment in Tibersoft Corporation during 2002, which was
reported as restructuring and other charges in the consolidated statements of operations. (See Notes 12 and 13.)

(J} Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are charged to operations as incurred. Based on the Company’s product
development process, technological feasibility is established upon completion of a working model. Costs
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incurred by the Company between completion of the working model and the point at which the product is ready
for general release have not been material. As such, all software development costs incurred to date have been
expensed as incurred.

(k) Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use

Costs incurred for internal-use software during the preliminary project stage and costs incurred for data
conversion, training and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Once the preliminary project stage is completed,
external direct costs incurred during the application development stage are capitalized and amortized over the
estimated useful life of the asset.

(1) Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash
equivalents and accounts receivable. The Company believes the concentration of credit risk with respect to cash
equivalents is limited because the Company places its investments in highly-rated financial institutions.
Concentration of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable is limited to certain customers to whom the
Company makes substantial sales. The Company generally requires no collateral. To reduce risk, the Company
routinely assesses the financial strength of its customers and, as a consequence, believes that its accounts
receivable credit risk exposure is limited. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts and
estimated losses but historically has not experienced any significant losses related to individual customers or
groups of customers in any particular industry or geographic area.

The Company had certain customers whose accounts receivable balances, including unbilled receivables,
individually represented 10% or more of the Company’s total accounts receivable, as follows:

At December 31,

2003 2004
CUStOMET A L ..o e * 22%
Customer B . ... e e e * 10%

The Company had one customer whose revenues represented a significant percentage of total net revenues,
as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2002 2003 2004

CUSIOMET A L e e * * 21%

* Less than 10% of the Company’s total.

(m) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments, including its cash and cash equivalents,
short-term investments, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and capital lease
obligations approximate their fair value due to the relatively short-term nature of these instruments.

(n) Net Loss per Share

Basic and diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss available to common stockholders
for the period by the weighted average basic and diluted number of shares of common stock outstanding during
the period. The calculation of basic weighted average shares outstanding excludes unvested restricted common
stock that is subject to repurchase by the Company. For periods in which a net loss has been incurred, the
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calculation of diluted net loss per share excludes potential common stock, as their effect is antidilutive. Potential
common stock includes (i) incremental shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock
options and warrants calculated using the treasury stock method and (ii) unvested restricted common stock
subject to repurchase by the Company.

Since the Company has incurred a net loss in all years presented, the calculation of diluted net loss per share
excludes the following potential shares of common stock as their effect on net loss per share is antidilutive:

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2003 2004
Stockoptions ........... . 1,579,258 831,714 4,880,765
Stock warrants .......... i 3,350 — 46,221
Restricted common stock . ............. ... ...... — — 35,801

1,582,608 831,714 4,962,787

{o) Exit and Disposal Activities

During 2003 and 2004, the Company closed its Chicago and India offices and downsized its operations in
Portland, Maine and London, England as part of its efforts to reduce operating expenses and consolidate its
operations. Total costs incurred in 2003 and 2004 related to these exit and disposal activities amounted to $2.8
million and $1.3 million, respectively (see Note 13).

(p) Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The Company’s comprehensive net loss is comprised of currency translation gains of $35,000, $13,000 and
$15,000 during 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

(q) Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets or liabilities are recorded for differences in the basis of assets and liabilities for book and
tax purposes and loss carry forwards based on enacted rates expected to be in effect when these items reverse.
Valuation allowances are provided to the extent it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized.

(r) Stock Compensation Plans

At December 31, 2004, the Company had four stock-based employee compensation plans, which are
described more fully in Note 5. The Company uses the intrinsic value method to measure compensation expense
associated with the grants of stock options or awards to employees. The Company accounts for stock options and
awards to non-employees using the fair value method.

Options terminate 10 years after grant and vest over periods set by the Board of Directors at the time of
grant. These vesting periods have generally been for four years, on a ratable basis, except for the grants of non-
qualified stock options which have a more accelerated vesting period as described below.

Under the intrinsic value method, compensation associated with stock awards to employees is determined as
the excess, if any, of the current fair value of the underlying common stock on the measurement date over the
price an employee must pay to exercise the award. The measurement date for employee awards is generally the
date of grant. Under the fair value method, compensation associated with stock awards to non-employees is
determined based on the estimated fair value of the award itself, measured using either current market data or an
established option pricing model. The measurement date for non-employee awards is generally the date that
performance of certain services is complete.
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Had the Company used the fair value method to measure compensation related to stock awards to
employees, reported loss and loss per share would have been as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2002 2003 2004
(Amounts in thousands)

Net 1088, @8 1ePOrted .. .ottt et ($27,293) ($39,491) ($ 7,290)
Add: Stock-based compensation recorded, netof taxes .................... 189 1,505 3,029
Deduct: Pro forma stock-based compensation, netof taxes ................. (8,543 4,759) (5,133)
Proforma net 1oSs . . oo ottt ($35,647) ($42,745) ($ 9,394)
Basic and diluted loss per share:

ASTEPOIEd ..o\ i ettt et ($ 069 (5 093 ($ 0.18)

Proforma . ... . ($ 0.90) (§ 1.06) ($ 0.23)

In July 2003, the Company granted to certain of its employees non-qualified stock options, which had an
exercise price that was below market value at the time of the grant. These options, which were granted as a
retention tool to employees expected to remain with I-many subsequent to the proposed sale of the health and life
science business to Neoforma, Inc. (see Note 14), vested on March 31, 2004. The aggregate intrinsic value of
these options, totaling $1.5 million less forfeitures of $228,000, was amortized ratably over the period from the
date of grant to the vesting date and recorded as compensation expense. Of this amount, $868,000 and $44G,000,
respectively, was recognized as compensation expense in the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004.

In December 2003, the Company granted to certain of its employees non-qualified stock options which had
exercise prices that were below market value at the time of the grants. These options, which were granted in lieu
of year-end bonuses, vested 50% on February 9, 2004 and 50% on February 7, 2005. The aggregate intrinsic
value of these options, totaling $2.7 million less forfeitures of $423,000, is being amortized ratably over the
period from the date of grant to the respective vesting dates and recorded as compensation expense. Of this
amount, $537,000 and $1.6 million, respectively, were recognized as compensation expense in the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2004 and $86,000 was recorded as deferred compensation in stockholders’ equity at
December 31, 2004.

Also in December 2003, the Company granted to certain of its employees non-qualified stock options,
which had exercise prices that were below market value at the time of the grants. These options, which were
granted as a retention tool to those employees assigned to the health and life science business and subsequently
retained by the Company upon the termination of the Neoforma, Inc. transaction, vested 50% on June 30, 2004
and 50% on December 31, 2004. The aggregate intrinsic value of these options, totaling $1.2 million less
forfeitures of $285,000, was amortized ratably over the period from the date of grant to the respective vesting
dates and recorded as compensation expense. Of this amount, $41,000 and $865,000, respectively, was
recognized as compensation expense in the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004.

The Company’s calculations of the fair value of stock options were made using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the following assumptions and resulted in the following weighted average fair value of
options granted during the years ended December 31:

2002 2003 2004
Risk-free interestrates ....................c...... 3.5% 3.2% 3.9%
Volatility . ... e 100% 125% 105%
Expectedlife ........ ... .o i 7 years 7 years 7 years
Weighted average fair value of options granted during
theperiod ............... .. ... .. ... .. $ 204 $ 091 $ 105




In September 2003, the Company granted a total of 16,215 shares of restricted common stock to its non-
employee directors. The aggregate value of these restricted shares, which vested on February 5, 2004, was
$22,000. Of this amount, $12,000 and $10,000, respectively, were recorded as compensation expense in the years
ended December 31, 2003 and 2004. In January 2004, the Company granted a total of 36,000 shares of restricted
common stock to its non-employee directors. As of December 31, 2004, the aggregate value of these restricted
shares, which vested on February 7, 2005, was $54,000. Of this amount, $49,000 was recorded as compensation
expense in the year ended December 31, 2004 and $5,000 was recorded as deferred compensation in
stockholders’ equity at December 31, 2004.

Other stock compensation charges included: (i) $47,000 of amortization in 2003 in connection with a 1999
non-qualified option grant to a director and (ii) $43,000 of costs in connection with extending the forfeiture date
of stock options held by two former employees.

(s) Foreign Currency Translation

The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars in accordance with Statement
of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation.” Where the functional
currency of a foreign subsidiary is its local currency, balance sheet accounts are translated at the current
exchange rate and income statement accounts are translated at the average exchange rate for the period. Gains
and losses resulting from translation are accumulated in a separate component of stockholders’ equity.

(t) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) revised SFAS No. 123, “Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation.” SFAS No. 123(Revised), which becomes effective as of the beginning of the
first interim reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005, establishes standards for the accounting for
transactions in which the Company issues stock options and other equity instruments. This statement will require
the Company to measure and record in its financial statements the compensation cost of employee services
received in exchange for awards of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the awards.
Management is currently evaluating the input that this revised statement will have on the Company’s financial
statements.

(2) Acquisitions
Chi-Cor Information Management, Inc.

On November 16, 2000, the Company acquired in a merger transaction all of the outstanding capital stock of
Chi-Cor Information Management, Inc. (“ChiCor™) for an initial purchase price of $13.5 million, which consisted
of cash of $5.7 million, a portion of which was used to pay off a $754,000 outstanding bank loan, 239,621 shares
of Company common stock with a fair value of $4.9 million, assumed liabilities of $2.5 million and transaction
costs of $458,000. In addition, based upon achievement against certain quarterly revenue and income milestones
through December 31, 2001, the ChiCor shareholders received additional consideration of $3.5 million,
consisting of $2.3 million in cash and 117,781 shares of Company common stock with a fair value as measured at
the respective quarter ends of $1.2 million. The $3.5 million in additional consideration was treated as additional
purchase price and recorded as goodwill. The Company has consolidated the operations of ChiCor beginning on
the date of the acquisition. The Company retained an independent appraiser for the purpose of allocating the
initial consideration of $13.5 million to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The
portion of the purchase price allocated to in-process research and development, totaling $2.4 million, was based
on a risk-adjusted cash flow appraisal method and represented projects that had not yet reached technological
feasibility and had no alternative future use. This portion of the purchase price was expensed upon consummation
of the ChiCor acquisition.

In 2003, the Company wrote off the unamortized balances of geodwill and acquired intangible assets, $8.1
million and $1.1 million, respectively, related to the ChiCor acquisition (see Note 12).
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Vintage Software, Inc.

On January 25, 2001, the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Vintage Software, Inc.
(“Vintage”), a software company which marketed a competing product to the Company’s CARS software suite
of products to mid-market pharmaceutical companies. The aggregate purchase price of $1.1 million included
$433,000 of cash, 34,096 shares of Company common stock with a fair value of $400,000, earnout fees paid of
$200,000 and transaction costs of $98,000. The Company has consolidated the operations of Vintage beginning
on the date of the acquisition.

Intersoft International, Inc.

On March 2, 2001, the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Intersoft International, Inc.
(“Intersoft™), a supplier of sales and marketing automation products for the foodservice broker industry. The
initial purchase price of $3.2 million included $500,000 of cash, 115,732 shares of Company common stock with
a fair value of $2.2 million, assumed liabilities of $411,000 and transaction costs of $99,000. In addition, based
upon achievement against certain quarterly revenue and income milestones through March 31, 2002, the Intersoft
shareholders received additional consideration of $83,000, consisting of 4,618 shares of Company common stock
with a fair market value of $80,000 and $3,000 in cash. The $83,000 in additional consideration was treated as
additional purchase price and recorded as goodwill. The Company has consolidated the operations of Intersoft
beginning on the date of acquisition.

In 2001, the Company wrote-down $895,000 of the carrying value of goodwill related to the Intersoft
acquisition. In 2002, the Company wrote off the remaining unamortized balances of goodwill and acquired
intangible assets, $802,000 and $465,000, respectively (see Note 12).

BCL Vision Ltd.

On April 9, 2001, the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of BCL Vision Ltd. (“BCL,”
renamed I-many International Limited), a provider of collection and dispute management software and services
based in London, England. The purchase price of $12.2 million consisted of cash of $4.0 million, 685,084 shares
of Company common stock with a fair value of $6.8 million, assumed liabilities of $870,000 and transaction
costs of $500,000. The Company has consolidated the operations of BCL beginning on the date of the
acquisition. The Company retained an independent appraiser for the purpose of allocating the consideration of
approximately $12.2 million to the tangible and intangible assets acquired. The portion of the purchase price
allocated to in-process research and development, totaling $1.0 million, was determined based on a risk-adjusted
cash flow appraisal method and represented projects that had not yet reached technological feasibility and had no
alternative future use. This portion of the purchase price was expensed upon consummation of the BCL
acquisition.

In 2003, the Company wrote off the unamortized balances of goodwill and acquired intangible assets, $6.7
million and $919,000, respectively, related to the BCL acquisition (see Note 12).

Provato, Inc.

On August 16, 2001, the Company acquired in a merger transaction all of the outstanding capital stock of
Provato, Inc. (“Provato™), a leading provider of contract management compliance solutions. The acquisition of
Provato was intended to expand I-many’s trade relationship capabilities in additional industries and across the
spectrum of contractually-based interactions. The purchase price of $16.8 million consisted of 1,975,739 shares
of the Company’s common stock valued at $11.2 million, a fully-vested warrant to purchase 4,546 shares of the
Company’s stock valued at approximately $25,000, the assumption of approximately $2.1 million of liabilities,
$1.7 million in convertible notes issued by the Company to Provato during the two month period immediately
preceding the merger, and transaction costs of $1.8 million, which included approximately $1.2 million of
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Provato’s merger-related costs. The Company has consolidated the operations of Provato beginning on the date
of the acquisition. The Company retained an independent appraiser for the purpose of allocating the merger
consideration of $16.8 million to the tangible and intangible assets acquired. The portion of the purchase price
allocated to in-process research and development, totaling $2.7 million, was determined based on a risk-adjusted
cash flow appraisal method and represented projects that had not yet reached technological feasibility and had no
alternative future use. This portion of the purchase price was expensed upon consummation of the Provato
acquisition.

In 2002, the Company wrote off the unamortized balances of goodwill and acquired intangible assets, $6.5
million and $4.4 million, respectively, related to the Provato acquisition (see Note 12).

NetReturn, LLC

On March 12, 2002, the Company acquired substantially all the assets of NetReturn, LLC (“NetReturn™), a
Connecticut limited liability company located in Fairfield, Connecticut, for an initial purchase price of $3.4
million. The primary asset acquired was NetReturn’s library of software applications and tools, which
represented an extension to [-many’s contract compliance product offerings to the pharmaceutical industry. The
initial consideration consisted of $500,000 of cash, 429,017 shares of the Company’s common stock with a fair
value of $2.8 million and transaction costs of $134,000. The value of the 429,017 common shares issued was
determined based on an average closing market price of I-many’s common shares ending on the day immediately
preceding the date (March 11, 2002) the terms of the acquisition were agreed to. The Company has consolidated
the operating results of NetReturn beginning on the date of the acquisition.

In addition, upon achievement of certain revenue milestones through March 11, 2003, the NetReturn
shareholders were entitled to additional consideration of up to $2.0 million, payable in cash or common stock at
the Company’s election. Based on the relevant cumulative revenue level realized as of March 11, 2003, the
Company recorded $1.0 million of additional consideration, which was recorded as additional goodwill.
Effective March 11, 2003, the terms of the additional consideration had expired and no additional consideration
can be earned by the NetReturn shareholders.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
the date of acquisition, including additional earnout consideration (amounts in thousands):

Property and qUIPMENt ... ...ttt e $ 13
(07 5155 1Y ¢ J 3
Acquired intangible assets . ... ... .. 2,250
GoodWIll . ..o 2,154

Total assets acqUIired . ... ... ..ttt e 4,420
Lessdeferred revenue . . ... ..ottt 36
Net assets aCqUired .. ..o ottt e e $4,384

The $2.3 million of acquired intangible assets represents the fair value of the technology acquired, which is
being amortized over a four-year life. The entire value of acquired intangible assets and goodwill was assigned to
the health and life sciences segment.

Menerva Technologies, Inc.

On March 28, 2002, the Company acquired, in a merger transaction, all of the outstanding capital stock of
Menerva Technologies, Inc. (“Menerva”), a Delaware corporation located in Redwood City, California, which
marketed buy-side contract software solutions, for a purchase price of up to $12.7 million. The Menerva
acquisition provided the Company with buy-side contracting capability to expand I-many’s contract management
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offering. The initial consideration of approximately $9.7 million consisted of cash of $2.4 million, 982,191

shares of the Company’s common stock with a fair value of $6.0 million, the assumption of fully-vested stock
options to purchase an aggregate of 25,743 shares of Company stock valued at approximately $143,000, assumed
liabilities of $792,000 and transaction costs of $410,000. The value of the 982,191 common shares issued was
determined based on an average closing market price of [-many’s common shares ending on the day immediately
preceding the date (March 26, 2002) the terms of the acquisition were agreed to. The Company has consolidated
the operating results of Menerva beginning on the date of acquisition. In addition, upon achievement of certain
revenue milestones through March 31, 2003, none of which were realized, the former Menerva shareholders were
entitled to additional consideration of up to $3.0 million, payable in cash or common stock at the Company’s
election.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
the date of acquisition (amounts in thousands):

CUITEIE @SSEES .+ .\ v ettt et ettt ettt e e e e e ettt ettt e $ 102
Property and equipment ....... ... . .. . 144
Other a880S . ottt e 34
Acquired intangible assets ... ... ... 2,500
In-process research and development ............ .. ... . .. i, 1,000
Goodwill . ... e 5,951

Total assets acquired ... ........i it e 9,731
Less current liabilities .. ... ... it e 792
Netassets aCqUired . ... ..ottt e e $8,939

The $2.5 million of acquired intangible assets represents the fair value of the technology acquired, which is
being amortized over a four-year life. The value of acquired intangible assets and goodwill was not assigned to
any particular segment since the extent to which each segment will benefit from the technology is not readily
determinable. The Company does not expect to deduct any portion of the goodwill for tax purposes.

The portion of the purchase price allocated to in-process research and development, totaling $1.0 million,
was expensed upon consummation of the Menerva acquisition. This allocation was attributable to one in-process
research and development project, which consisted of the development of significant new features and
functionality to an existing software product. Menerva had achieved significant technological milestones on the
project as of the acquisition date, but the project had not reached technological feasibility.

The value of the purchased in-process research and development was computed using a discount rate of
30% on the projected incremental revenue stream of the product enhancements, net of anticipated costs and
expenses. The 30% discount rate was derived based on the Company’s estimated weighted average cost of capital
as adjusted to reflect the additional risk inherent in product development. The discounted cash flows were based
on management’s forecast of future revenue, costs of revenue and operating expenses related to the products and
technologies purchased from Menerva. The determined value was then adjusted to reflect only the value creation
efforts of Menerva prior to the close of the acquisition. At the time of the acquisition, the project was
approximately 60% complete. The Company invested an additional $350,000 in the project following
acquisition. The project’s development progressed, in all material respects, consistently with the assumptions that
the Company had used for estimating its fair value. The project was subsequently completed in May 2002.

Pricing Analytics, Inc.

On April 2, 2004, the Company completed its acquisition of all of the outstanding capital stock of Pricing
Analytics, Inc. (“Pricing Analytics”), a California corporation located in Redwood City, California, which
marketed software used to evaluate pricing strategies, for a purchase price of up to $3.0 million. The Pricing
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Analytics acquisition provided the Company with technology that the Company believes will enhance its product
offerings to its customers in both the health and life sciences and other industries segments. The initial merger
consideration of $1.2 million consisted of $995,000 in cash, assumed liabilities of $36,000, estimated transaction
costs of $60,000 and advance royalties of $75,000 previously paid by the Company to Pricing Analytics in 2003.
The cash consideration was paid in four equal quarterly installments beginning in April 2004 with the final
installment of $248,000 paid in January 2005. The Company has consolidated the operating results of Pricing
Analytics beginning on the date of acquisition.

In addition, upon achievement of certain revenue milestones through March 31, 2005, the former Pricing
Analytics shareholders will be entitled to additional consideration of up to $1.8 million, payable in cash or
common stock at the Company’s election. Since the likelihood of the revenue milestones being achieved now
appears unlikely, no contingent consideration has been recorded in the accompanying financial statements.

The Company retained an independent appraiser for the purpose of allocating the initial consideration of
$1.2 million to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The following table
summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition
(amounts in thousands):

Acquired intangible assets .. ...... ... $ 740
In-process research and development ........ ... ... ... o i 290
GoodWIll . .. e e e e 136

Total assets acquired ... ... .. . 1,166
Less current liabilities ... .. ... . e e 36
Net assets 8CQUITE . . . .ottt ittt i e $1,130

The $740,000 of acquired intangible assets represents the fair value of the technology acquired, which is
being amortized over a four-year life. The entire value of acquired intangible assets, in-process research and
development, and goodwill was assigned to the health and life sciences segment. The Company does not expect
to deduct any portion of the goodwill for tax purposes.

The portion of the purchase price allocated to in-process research and development, totaling $290,000, was
expensed upon consummation of the Pricing Analytics acquisition. This allocation was attributable to one in-
process research and development project, which consisted of the development of significant new features and
functionality to an existing software product. Pricing Analytics had achieved significant technological milestones
on the project as of the acquisition date, but the project had not reached technological feasibility.

The value of the purchased in-process research and development was computed using a discount rate of
45% on the projected incremental revenue stream of the product enhancements, net of anticipated costs and
expenses. The 45% discount rate was derived based on the Company’s estimated weighted average cost of capital
as adjusted to reflect the additional risk inherent in product development. The discounted cash flows were based
on management’s forecast of future revenue, costs of revenue and operating expenses related to the products and
technologies purchased from Pricing Analytics. The determined value was then adjusted to reflect only the value
creation efforts of Pricing Analytics prior to the close of the acquisition. At the time of the acquisition, the
project was approximately 35% to 40% complete. The Company invested approximately $135,000 in the project
following acquisition. The project’s development progressed, in all material respects, consistently with the
assumptions that the Company had used for estimating its fair value. The project was completed in October 2004.

Pro Forma Information

The following unaudited pro forma information summarizes the effect of the Pricing Analytics acquisition,
as if the acquisition had occurred as of January 1, 2003. This pro forma information is presented for
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informational purposes only. It is based on historical information and does not purport to represent the actual
results that may have occurred had the Company consummated the acquisitions on January 1, 2003, nor is it
necessarily indicative of future results of operations of the combined enterprises. Pro forma results are in

thousands of dollars, except per share data:

(Unaudited)

Pro formarevenues .................
Proformanetloss ..................
Pro forma net loss per share .. ..........

(3) Details of Financial Statement Components

Short-term Investments

Year ended December 31,

2003 2004
..................... $ 39412 $38413
...................... (40,227) (7,621)

0.99) (0.18)

Short-term investments consisted of the following at December 31, 2004:

US Government agency securities ..........
Corporatebonds . ................. ... ..

Property and Equipment, net

The cost and accumulated depreciation of property and equipment consist of the following at December 31:

2003 2004
(Amounts in thousands)

Computer software ......... ..ot $2,620 $1,129
Computer hardware .. ........... ... i 4,710 2,905
Furniture and equipment . ...... ...t 1,952 1,252
Leasehold improvements ... ....... ... i 411 260

9,693 5,546
Less—accumulated depreciation and amortization ............... 7,814 4,246
Total property and equipment, net ................ccoveenneen.. $1.879 $1,300

Depreciation expense was approximately $2.4 million, $1.8 million and $917,000 for the years ended

December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

Other Acquired Intangible Assets, Net

The gross carrying value and accumulated amortization of other acquired intangible assets consist of the

following:

Acquired technology .......... ... .. .. ... .. ..

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
(Amounts in thousands)
$2,000 $— $— $2,000
...... 1,010 — — 1,010
$3,010 $— $— $3,010

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2004

Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

(Amounts in thousands)

$5,303 $2,481 $6,043 $3,946




Amortization expense for acquired technology was $5.0 million, $2.0 million and $1.5 million, respectively,
for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004.

Acquired intangible assets are being amortized over a four-year life. Projected future annual amortization is
as follows for the years ended December 31 (in thousands):

2005 L $1,384
2006 .. 482
2007 185
2008 .. e 46

Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following at December 31:

2003 2004
(Amounts in thousands)
Accrued payroll and benefits . .. ...... .. .o $2,543  $1,820
Accrued COMMISSIONS . ... vt ittt e e et e e e e e 897 947
Accrued consulting and professional fees . .......... . ... . ... . .. 1,036 451
Accrued lease 1oSS COSIS . ...t 645 159
Accrued other .. ... .. .. e 868 822
Total aCCTUEd EXPENSES .« o v vttt ettt ettt ettt e e e e e $5,989  $4,199

(4) Strategic Relationship Agreements
The Procter & Gamble Company

In May 2000, the Company entered into a ten-year Strategic Relationship Agreement (the “Initial P&G
Agreement”) with The Procter & Gamble Company (“P&G”), pursuant to which P&G designated the Company
as its exclusive provider of purchase contract management software for its commercial products group for a
period of three years. In addition, P&G agreed to provide the Company with certain strategic marketing and
business development services over the term of the Initial P&G Agreement. P&G also entered into an agreement
to license certain software and technology from the Company.

As consideration for entering into the Initial P&G Agreement, the Company granted to P&G a fully
exercisable warrant to purchase 875,000 shares of its common stock. The warrant was converted into 561,960
shares of common stock via a non-cash exercise during 2000. In addition, the Company had agreed to pay P&G a
royalty of up to 10% of the revenue generated from the commercial products market, as defined. As of December
31, 2002, no such royalties had been earned or paid. In February 2003, the Initial P&G Agreement was amended
to delete the royalty provision, in exchange for which the Company granted to P&G a fully exercisable warrant to
purchase 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock (see Note 5(f)).

(5) Stockholders’ Equity
(a) Authorized Capital

The Company has authorized capital stock of 105,000,000 shares, of which 100,000,000 shares are
designated as common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, and 5,000,000 shares were designated for preferred
stock, $0.01 par value per share. At December 31, 2003 and 2004, the Company had reserved 18,708,128 and
16,674,807 shares of common stock, respectively, for issuance upon the exercise of stock options and warrants.
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(b) Private Placement

In February 2002, the Company completed a private placement of its common stock and preferred stock,
issuing 1,100,413 shares of its common stock and the warrants described below at a total price of $7.27 per
common share and 1,700 shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock at a purchase price of $10,000 per
share. The Company received proceeds of approximately $7.4 million, net of commissions and other fees, from
the sale of the common stock and warrants. Proceeds of $17.0 million related to the issuance of preferred stock
were held in escrow pending conversion or redemption of the shares of preferred stock, and the proceeds were
recorded as restricted cash. In July 2002, the Company redeemed at its election all 1,700 outstanding shares of
the redeemable convertible preferred stock at a price equal to the original $17.0 million purchase price, plus
accrued interest.

The warrants issued by the Company to the common stock investors consisted of a warrant exercisable for
180 days after the closing to purchase up to an additional 165,062 shares at an exercise price of $7.27 per share
(which has since expired) and a seven-year warrant to purchase up to an additional 165,062 shares ai an exercise
price of $7.50 per share.

(c) Rescission of Stock Grant

In February 2002, the Company granted 100,000 shares of its unrestricted common stock to its chief
executive officer, Mr. Powell, as a bonus pursuant to the terms of his amended employment agreement. In
December 2002, the Company and Mr. Powell agreed to rescind this grant.

(d) Stock Incentive Plans

In March 2000, the Company adopted the 2000 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, which provides
for the grant of up to 562,500 shares of common stock in the form of nonqualified stock options to directors who
are not employees. Each non-employee director is granted an option to purchase 62,500 shares of common stock
upon initial election or appointment to the board. In addition, each non-employee director receives an option to
purchase 25,000 shares of common stock on the date of each annual meeting of stockholders.

In April 2001, the Company adopted the 2001 Employee Stock Option Plan, which provides for the grant of
up to 1,000,000 shares of common stock in the form of nonqualified stock options. All of the Company’s
officers, employees, directors, consultants and advisors are eligible to receive awards under the 2001 Employee
Stock Option Plan, with not more than 25,000 shares to be issued in the aggregate to officers or directors of the
Company. This plan is administered by the Company’s Board of Directors and its Executive Compensation
Committee, which determines the terms of all grants thereunder.

In June 2001, the Company adopted the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, which provides for the grant of up to
5,000,000 shares of common stock in the form of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted
stock awards and other stock-based awards. In addition, if any previous award under the 2001 Stock Incentive
Plan or other previously-adopted option plans of the Company expires or is terminated, surrendered or cancelled
without having been fully exercised, the unissued shares covered by any such award shall be available for grant
under the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan. All of the Company’s officers, employees, directors, consultants and
advisors are eligible to receive awards under the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan.

In March 2002, the Company assumed the Menerva Technologies, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan in
connection with the Company’s acquisition of Menerva Technologies, Inc. Under this plan, 25,743 shares of our
common stock were issuable upon exercise of incentive stock options granted prior to the acquisition. As of
December 31, 2004, options to purchase 2,682 shares of the Company’s common stock remained outstanding. No
further awards may be made under this plan. This plan is administered by the Company’s Board of Directors and
its Executive Compensation Committee.

48




In June 2003, the Company adopted the 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, which provides for the grant of up to
5,000,000 shares of common stock in the form of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted
stock awards and other stock-based awards. All of the Company’s officers, employees, directors, consultants and
advisors are eligible to receive awards under the 2003 Stock Incentive Plan.

The following table summarizes total common shares available for future option grants at December 31,
2004:

2000 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan ... ...... ... ... ... ... 150,000
2001 Employee Stock OptionPlan . .......... ... ... i 1,165,305
2001 and 2003 Stock Incentive Plans . ..... ...t 4,172,659
Total available for future grant . ......... ... ... . i 5,487,964

Weighted average price and life information about significant option groups outstanding and exercisable as
of December 31, 2004 is as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted  Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Number of  Exercise  Remaining Number of  Exercise
Options Price Per  Contractual Options Price Per

Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Share Life (years) Exercisable Share
$0.016 — $0.270 4,703,568 $ 0.239 8.88 3,157,085 $ 0.248
0.400- 1710 1,684,891 1.234 8.30 507,544 1.275
1.960 - 3.030 1,915,015 2.456 5.69 1,702,888 2.513
3.800- 6.170 388,622 4.350 5.70 363,019 4.328
7.180-11.750 406,050  10.157 6.14 360,492  10.410
13.375 - 18.500 299,304  14.667 _5__941 285,429  14.700

9,397,450 $ 1.927 7.78 6,376,457 $ 2.388

The following table summarizes stock option activity under all of the Company’s stock incentive plans:

Weighted

Average

Number of Exercise

Shares Price

Balance, January 1,2002 . ... ... . ... 8,709,342 $5.841
Granted . ... 2,865,171 3.469
Exercised . ........ .. (483,868) 3415
Canceled . ... (2,112,985) 7.601
Balance, December 31,2002 ... ... .. 8,977,660 4.800
Granted . . ... 8,248,064 0.318
Exercised ......... .. (43,168) 0.821
Canceled . ... (3,933,986) 4.366
Balance, December 31,2003 ... ... .. ... 13,248,570 2.144
Granted . ..., . 986,792 1.101
Exercised . ... (1,691,937) 0.283
Canceled ... .. i (3,145,975) 3.438
Balance, December 31,2004 ... ... . 9,397,450 $1.927
Exercisable, December 31, 2002 . .. ... 2,676,675 $5.827
Exercisable, December 31,2003 ... ... . e 3,516,576 $5.047
Exercisable, December 31,2004 .. ... ... . 6,376,457 $2.388




(e) Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In March 2000, the Company adopted the 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The 2000 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan authorizes the issuance of up to 1,250,000 shares of common stock to participating employees at
85% of the closing price of the common stock on the first day or last day of each offering period, whichever is
lower. The following table summarizes the number of shares and per share prices for purchases since January 1,
2002:

Number of
Shares Price
June 2002 . .. e 18,479 $3.672
December 2002 ... e 29,901 2.440
June 2003 . e 46,140 1.250
December 2003 ... . e 68,022 0.800
June 2004 . . e 89,660 0.810
December 2004 ... e 101,873 1.070

(f) Warrants

At December 31, 2003 and 2004, the Company had warrants outstanding at exercise prices ranging from
$1.20 to0 $13.20, as described below.

In April 2001, the Company granted to Accenture a fully exercisable warrant to purchase 124,856 shares of
the Company’s common stock. The warrant was exercisable for a period of three years at an exercise price of
$9.725 per share. The warrant expired in April 2004.

In August 2001, the Company acquired, in a merger transaction, all of the outstanding capital stock of
Provato, Inc.(see Note 2). As part of this transaction, the Company assumed a warrant to purchase 4,546 shares
of the Company’s stock at an exercise price of $13.20.

In February 2002, the Company granted two warrants to common stock investors pursuant to a private
placement offering (see Note 5(b)), one of which expired during 2002. The remaining warrant to purchase
165,062 shares of the Company’s common stock is exercisable for a period of seven years at an exercise price of
$7.50 per share.

In February 2003, the Company granted to P&G a fully exercisable warrant to purchase 1,000,000 shares of
the Company’s common stock. The warrant is exercisable for a period of three years at an exercise price of $1.20
per share. Using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and based upon an exercise price of $1.20 per share, a
current stock market value of $1.11 per share and a volatility factor of 125%, the Company calculated the fair
value of the fully exercisable warrant to purchase 1,000,000 shares of common stock as $795,000. This amount
was recorded by the Company in 2003 as a component of sales and marketing expense. In November 2004, P&G
partially exercised the warrant, acquiring 250,000 shares of the Company’s common stock.

(6) Income Taxes

There was no provision for income taxes recorded or income taxes paid in the years ended December 31,
2002, 2003 and 2004. A tax benefit, related to a refund of $82,000, was recorded in fiscal 2004. At December 31,
2004, the Company had approximately $103 million of U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards and
research and development credit carryforwards of $3.8 million. The federal net operating loss carryforwards
expire in the years 2008 through 2024 and are subject to certain annual limitations. The federal research and
development credit carryforwards expire in the years 2006 through 2024. Due to the uncertainty surrounding the
Company’s ability to realize these NOL’s, tax credits and its other deferred tax assets, a full valuation allowance
has been placed against the otherwise recognizable net deferred tax asset.
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The approximate income tax effect of each type of temporary difference and carryforward is as follows:

December 31,

2003 2004

(Amounts in thousands)
Federal net operating loss carryforwards ........... ... ... viinionnn, $ 34,253 $34910
State net operating loss carryforwards ........ ... .. ... o oo 4,195 4,793
Research and development tax credits ........... ..., 3,550 3,843
Deferred revenue ... ... .. i 2,687 2,024
Allowance for doubtful accounts ....... ... ... ... ... i i, 90 42
Other . e e 662 719
Less—Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets . ..................... (45,437)  (46,331)

Net deferred tax @SSeLS .. ... vvvvrr ettt $§ — $ —
A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory rate to the effective rate is as follows:
Years Ended

December 31,
2002 2003 2004

Federal statutory Tate . ... ...ttt i e e e e (B34.00% (34.00% (34.0)%
Research and development tax credits . ............. . 26) (14 a7
State taxes, net of federal benefit . ..... ... .. .. ... .. .. . . . . ... .. (5.3) (5.3) (5.3)
Amortization of acquired intangible assets ............ ... .. o i 55 1.5 4.6
In-process research and development ............ . ... . .. ... 1.2 — 14
Impairment of intangibles . ........ ... ... 15.2 19.6 —
Stock option and warrant Charges . ............. oot i — — 6.9
Other . o 0.3 0.6 (1.8)
Valuation allowance for deferred tax asset ............ ... ... ... .. .. ... 19.7 19.0 31.8
Provision (Benefit) forincometaxes ........ ... i — % — % (1.1)%

Under the terms of certain of the Company’s merger agreements, the Company has agreed to not take any
action that could violate the tax-free merger status of these mergers. In the event that tax authorities determine
that a merger no longer qualifies as a tax-free exchange, the Company may be required to reimburse the selling
party to the merger for any additional taxes that may be imposed on the selling party. In such a circumstance, the
Company would receive additional tax basis in the assets acquired in the merger.
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(7) Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases its facilities under operating lease agreements and certain of its equipment under
noncancelable capital and operating lease agreements through 2011, Future minimum lease commitments under
all noncancelable leases at December 31, 2004 are approximately as follows:

Operating Capital
Leases Leases
(Amounts in thousands)

Year ending December 31,

2005 e $1,795 $i64
2006 . 1,628 —
2007 1,621 —
2008 1,574 —
2000 . 1,331 —
Thereafter ... ... i 1,716 —
Total minimum lease PAYMENts .. ...........ouueiiuneenneeennnenann.. $9,665 164
Less—Amount representing interest ............. ..., 4)
Present value of minimum lease payments ..............c.ooiiiiriinan. 160
Less—Current portion of capital lease obligations ....................... 160
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion .. ........................ $—

At December 31, 2004, future minimum lease commitments included an aggregate of $4.1 million related to
leased office space that is no longer in service. The net present value of this $4.1 million aggregate lease
commitment, as offset by sublease commitments from various subtenants totaling $2.5 million, is included in
Other long-term liabilities and Accrued expenses as indicated in Note 13.

Included in property and equipment are assets pursuant to capital lease arrangements as follows at
December 31:

2003 2004
(Amounts in thousands)

Property and Equipment:

Computer SOftWAre .. ... ..ottt $ 325 %169
Computer hardware . ........... ..ot e e 818 331
Furniture and equipment . ............. .ot 392 121
Leasehold improvements . ............ it 62 15
1,597 636

Less—Accumulated depreciation and amortization ......................... 666 333
$ 931 3303

Total rent expense was approximately $1.8 million, $2.0 million and $1.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

The Company is often involved in contractual disputes, litigation and potential claims arising in the ordinary
course of business. The Company does not believe that the resolution of these matters will have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. The Company is not a party to any
material pending legal proceedings.
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(8) Unaudited Quarterly Financial Data

THREE MONTHS ENDED
MARCH 31, JUNE 30, SEPT. 30, DEC.31, MARCH31, JUNE30, SEPT.30, DEC.31,
2003 2003 2003 2003 2004 2004 2004 2004

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
Total net revenues ... $11,099  $ 10,238  $ 7,283 $10,792 $11430 $8,155 $9,307 $9,521

Gross profit . ....... 7,394 6,297 3,172 6,689 7,528 4,088 5,519 5,713
Netloss ........... (6,318) (22,091)(a) (6,626) (4,456) (1,536) (2,871) (756) (2.,127)
Net loss per share—

basic and

diluted . ... ..... (0.16) (0.55) (0.16) 0.11) (0.04) 0.07) (0.02) (0.05)

(a) Amount includes impairment charges totaling $16.8 million for the quarter June 30, 2003.

(9) Segment Disclosure

On January 1, 2003, the Company realigned its business segments from life sciences, consumer packaged
goods and food services and other to life sciences (renamed health and life sciences) and other industries. These
new segments are consistent with how management establishes strategic goals, allocates resources and evaluates
performance.

The Company measures operating results as two reportable segments, each of which provide multiple
products and services that allow manufacturers, purchasers and intermediaries to manage their complex contracts
for the purchase and sale of goods. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the
summary of significant accounting policies. The Company’s reportable segments are strategic business units that
market to separate and distinct industry groups: (i) health and life sciences, which includes pharmaceutical
manufacturers, and (ii) all other industries. The following tables reflect the results of the segments consistent
with the Company’s management system. All amounts are in thousands of dollars.

Health and Other
Life Sciences Industries Unallocated Totals

(Amounts in thousands)

At and for the year ended December 31, 2004;

NELTEVENUES & o ottt et et et et e $27913 $10500 $ —  $ 38,413
Depreciation and amortization ....................... 1,741 16 625 2,382
Segment gain (108S) ... ..vvti i 3,221 (9,886) (625) (7,290)
Segment assetS . ... ...t 33,842 3,624 6,732 44,198
Expenditures for segment assets .. .................... 698 — — 698
Goodwill ..o i e 2,716 — 5,951 8,667
At and for the year ended December 31, 2003:
NELTEVENUES . ..o ettt et e e e $26,031 $13381 $ — $39412
Depreciation and amortization .. ..................... 2,058 1,151 625 3,834
Segment1oss . ... (9,883) (28,983) (625) (39,491)
SegMENt ASSELS . .o oottt e e 35,345 6,867 7,357 49,569
Expenditures for segmentassets ... ................... — — — —
Goodwill ... .. 2,580 — 5,951 8,531
At and for the year ended December 31, 2002:

NELTEVENUES . .o vttt et et e e e $37483 $17263 $ — $ 54,746
Depreciation and amortization . ...................... 2,235 2,434 2,735 7,404
Segmentoss . . ... (5,429) (6,093) (15,771) (27,293)
SEgMENt @SSELS . .. oot 55,455 21,127 7,982 84,564
Expenditures for segment assets .. .................... 138 58 — 196
GoodWill .. .oo 2,580 14,767 5,951 23,298




Unallocated amounts consist of goodwill and acquired intangible asset values and related amortization
amounts with respect to the acquisitions of Provato and Menerva and the technology purchase from Ozro, Inc.
(“Ozro”). Interest revenue, interest expense, other significant non-cash items, income tax expense or benefit, and
unusual items that are attributable to the segments do not have a significant effect on the financial results of the

segments,

Geographic Information:

Revenue* Long-lived Assets

2002 2003 2004 2002 2003 2004

- - - (Amounts in thousands)
UnitedStates .................cvovn... 94% 93% 92% $26,369  $13,575 $12,583
United Kingdom ...................... 6% 5% 2% 7,835 258 264
Canada .........coviiiiiiii F* 2% 2% — — —
The Netherlands ...................... ** *k 2% — — —
China ...............iii i ok ok 1% — — —
Other ...... .. ... . i o Hok 1% — 106 —
Total ..... .. 100% 100% 100% $34,204 $13,939 $12,847

*  Revenues are attributed to countries based on location of customers.

**  Revenues were less than 1%.

(10) Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

A rollforward of the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows:

(Amounts in thousands)

Balance atJanuary 1,2002 . ....... .. ... . . .. ... $ 831
ProvISIONS . ...t e e 970
Write-offs ... ... (410)

Balance at December 31,2002 ... ... ... ... .. .. 1,391
Provisions . ... 169
Write-0ffs . ... e (985)
Currency translation adjustments ......................... 13

Balance at December 31,2003 ... ... . 588
Provisions . ........ ... e 220
Write-offs . ... o 414)
Currency translation adjustments ......................... 8

Balance at December 31,2004 . ......... i $ 402

(11) Employee Benefit Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined contribution plan as a retirement plan for its qualifying employees.
Prior to October 2003, the Company provided a discretionary matching contribution. The matching contributions
paid by the Company amounted to $922,000 in 2002 and $441,000 in 2003. The Company made no matching
contributions in 2004.
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(12) Impairment of Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets

In 2003, the Company determined that a portion of its recorded goodwill and acquired intangible assets was
impaired pursuant to the Company’s decision to proceed with the proposed sale of certain assets of its health and
life sciences business to a subsidiary of Neoforma, Inc. (see Note 14). Concurrent with the proposed Neoforma
transaction, the Company reduced its workforce and focused its development efforts primarily on its product
offerings in the Enterprise Contract Management market. The focus on new platforms, products and technologies
prompted the Company to reevaluate the technologies originally acquired in the acquisitions of ChiCor and BCL,
and the corresponding reduction in projected sales of the related products resulted in the determination that future
cash flows were not sufficient to support the valuations of the ChiCor and BCL long-lived assets. As a result of
its assessment, the Company recorded impairment charges of $9.2 million and $7.6 million, respectively,
associated with its acquisitions of ChiCor and BCL. These impairment charges were recorded in the other
industries reportable segment and included impairment of goodwill totaling $14.8 million and of acquired
intangible assets totaling $2.0 million.

In 2002, the Company determined that the value of its recorded goodwill and acquired intangible assets was
partially impaired as a result of the Company’s continuing operating losses. Further, as a result of the Company’s
plans to align its strategies to the expected software marketplace, the Company determined that certain long-lived
assets would not be employed to generate future cash flow. As a result of its assessment, the Company recorded
impairment charges of $10.9 million, $1.3 million and $1.1 million, respectively, associated with its acquisitions
of Provato and Intersoft and its November 2001 technology purchase from Ozro. The impairment charge related
to Intersoft was recorded in the other industries business segment. The impairment charges related to Provato and
Ozro were not included in a reportable segment. In the cases of Provato and Ozro, the values of goodwill and
acquired intangible assets were fully written off based upon the Company’s determination that it was unlikely to
use the technologies it had acquired, and consequently, the fair value of these assets was impaired. With respect
to Intersoft, the Company determined that the fair value of the Intersoft operation was negatively impacted by
this operation’s continued inability to generate positive cashflows. Accordingly, the full remaining value of
Intersoft’s goodwill and acquired intangible assets was written off.

(13) Restructuring and Other Charges

In March 2004, the Company completed the reduction of its workforce that it had begun in 2003 to
streamline its operations in advance of a planned (and subsequently terminated) sale of its health and life
sciences operation (see Note 14). For the year ended December 30, 2004, the Company recorded (i) accrued
cease-use lease charges of $512,000 and $180,000, respectively, in connection with the partial closing of its
facilities in London, England and Portland, Maine (i) an additional $103,000 in cease-use lease charges related
to its closed Chicago, Illinois office, (iii) $284,000 in severance costs for employees whose employment was
terminated prior to March 31, 2004 and (iv) impairment charges of $267,000 with respect to property and
equipment that were no longer in productive use. With respect to the partial closing in January 2004 of its
London office, the Company determined the fair value of the remaining liability (net of estimated sublease
rentals) on its lease at the cease-use date. With respect to the closing of one of its Portland offices in January
2004, no sublease assumption was incorporated in the calculation of the cease-use lease accrual because the lease
expired in April 2004, as it was not reasonable to sublease the facility for such a short term.

In 2003, the Company took several actions to reduce its operating expenses in order to better align its cost
structure with projected revenues and to streamline operations in connection with the proposed Neoforma
transaction (see Note 14). These actions included the closing of its offices in Chicago, Illinois and Mumbeai,
India, and significant downsizings of its operations in London, England and Portland, Maine. With respect to the
closing of its Chicago office, the Company determined the fair value of the remaining liability (net of estimated
sublease rentals) on its Chicago office lease at the cease-use date in late March 2003 and incurred cease-use
charges of $1,848,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003. With respect to the India office, the Company
incurred $97,000 in charges, representing the discounted value of the remaining lease payments for the leased
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office space, for the year ended December 31, 2003. Also during 2003, the Company recorded an impairment
loss of $106,000 with respect to property and equipment it expected to sell or abandon pursuant to the London
downsizing and India office closing. In addition, the Company incurred severance costs of $555,000 for
employees that were terminated as a result of these office closings and downsizings. The net result of the
workforce restructuring was a reduction in the Company’s headcount from 298 at June 30, 2003 to 198 at
December 31, 2003. Also, the Company recorded impairment losses of $207,000 during 2003 with respect to
property and equipment that was no longer in productive use.

In 2002, the Company recorded $780,000 as an other charge, representing the write-off of the entire net
carrying value of its investment in Tibersoft Corporation, a privately-held technology company. The write-off
was predicated on the Company’s determination that the likelihood of Tibersoft’s ability to raise equity
financing, if at all, with terms that would not significantly dilute the Company’s liquidation preference in
Tibersoft’s assets was unlikely.

A rollforward of the Company’s accrued liability for restructuring and other charges is as follows:

Employee  Lease costs
Severance and asset

Costs impairments Total
(Amounts in thousands)
Balances at Janunary 1,2002 . ... ... ... $ 257 $ 514 $ 771
Payments in 2002 .. ... .. (257) (514) (771)
Balances at December 31,2002 . ... ... e — — —
Restructuring provisions in 2003 .. ........ .. ... o 555 2,051 2,606
Property and equipment impairments in 2003 . ............... .. ..... — 207 207
Payments in 2003 .. ... .. (439) (496) (935)
ASSEt WEITE-dOWNS . . .. L it —_— (367) (367)
Balances at December 31,2003 . ... o o 116 1,395 1,511
Restructuring provisionsin 2004 . .. ... .. ... . i 284 795 1,079
Property and equipment impairments in2004 .. ... ... ... ... ... .. ... — 267 267
Payments in 2004 . ... ... .. e (400) (849) (1,249)
ASSet WHLE-AOWNIS . . o\t i e — (267) 267)
Balances at December 31,2004 . . ... ... $— $1,341 $ 1,341
Current portion—included in accrued expenses ................. $ 159
Noncurrent portion—included in other long-term liabilities . . ... ... $1,182

(14) Termination of Agreement to Sell Health and Life Sciences Assets

On July 18, 2003, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement to sell substantially all the assets of
its health and life sciences business, including in force license contracts and intellectual property, to a subsidiary
of Neoforma, Inc. (“Neoforma™) for a purchase price of up to $25.0 million. On December 1, 2003, Neoforma
notified the Company that it had terminated the proposed asset purchase agreement, by exercising its right to
terminate the transaction after the proposed acquisition did not close by November 30, 2003. The $1.1 million of
costs incurred by the Company during 2003 with respect to the proposed merger were charged to terminated deal
transaction costs. Following the termination of the Neoforma acquisition, the Company identified approximately
45 staff positions to be eliminated, which were in addition to the employee terminations that had been carried out
as part of the Company’s previous restructuring efforts during the second half of 2003 (see Note 13).
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(15) Proposed Merger with Selectica, Inc.

On December 3, 2004, the Company announced that it had entered into a definitive agreement to merge with
a subsidiary of Selectica, Inc. (“Selectica™), a leading provider of solutions for automating the sales Opportunity-
to-Order process. Under the terms of the agreement, Selectica would pay $1.55 per share in cash for all
outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock, for a total transaction value of approximately $70.0 million.
The transaction has been unanimously approved by the boards of directors of both companies and is subject to
customary closing conditions, including regulatory review and the approval of the Company’s stockholders. The
special meeting of shareholders of our Company to consider and vote upon the proposed sale is scheduled for
March 30, 2005. In 2004, the Company incurred $455,000 in legal fees and other costs related to the merger.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Deloitte & Touche LLP (“Deloitte”), the Company’s former independent registered public accounting firm,
advised the Company’s Audit Committee on January 29, 2004, in connection with the December 31, 2003 audit,
that (1) there were two disagreements on matters of accounting principles and practices during the Company’s
two most recent fiscal years which would have caused Deloitte, with respect to the disagreement occurring in
2002, to make reference thereto in Deloitte’s report on the Company’s December 31, 2002 consolidated financial
statements had it not been resolved to Deloitte’s satisfaction, and with respect to the disagreement occurring in
2003, Deloitte would make reference thereto in Deloitte’s report on the Company’s December 31, 2003
consolidated financial statements had it not been resolved to Deloitte’s satisfaction, as departures from
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and (2) Deloitte had identified a
deficiency in the Company’s internal control that Deloitte considered to be a “material weakness” under
standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Deloitte discussed each of these
matters with the Company’s Audit Committee and management. These matters were:

A. During 2003, Deloitte identified a material adjustment to software license revenue included in the
draft of the Company’s September 30, 2003 unaudited consolidated financial statements presented for
Deloitte’s review in connection with the Company’s September 30, 2003 Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
based on Deloitte’s interpretation of the terms of a customer contract. In discussions of this matter, the
Company’s management and its Audit Committee expressed a difference of opinion with Deloitte before
accepting Deloitte’s position.

B. During 2002, Deloitte identified a material adjustment to software license revenue included in the
draft of the Company’s June 30, 2002 unaudited consolidated financial statements presented for Deloitte’s
review in connection with the Company’s June 30, 2002 Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, based on
Deloitte’s interpretation of the terms of a reseller contract. In discussions of this matter, the Company’s
management and its Audit Committee expressed a difference of opinion with Deloitte before accepting
Deloitte’s position.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. As required by Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b), our
management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer, or CEO, and Chief Financial Officer, or
CFO, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2004. The term
“disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act,
means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by the company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to
be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and
communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers,
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as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating our disclosure
controls and procedures, our management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives, and management
necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.
Our management does not expect that our disclosure controls or our internal controls will prevent all error and all
fraud. Based on this evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that, as of December 31, 2004, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective in timely alerting them to material information required to be included in
our periodic SEC filings and that information required to be disclosed by us in these periodic filings is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that our
internal controls are effective to provide reasonable assurance that our financial statements are fairly presented in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

(b) Management’s Assessment of the Effectiveness of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act. Because of
its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed and operated, have inherent
limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with
respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. The Company’s management assessed the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. In making this
assessment, the Company’s management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Based on our
assessment, management believes that, as of December 31, 2004, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting is effective based on those criteria. The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm has
issued an audit report on our assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. This report
appears below in this Item 9A.

(c) Changes in Internal Control. In connection with our preparations for the audit of internal financial
controls required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we implemented and documented numerous
new accounting procedures and controls designed to improve the Company’s system of internal financial controls
during the quarter ended December 31, 2004. These new controls affected our accounting, information
technology, legal and human resources practices. The Company made no other changes to its internal controls
procedures in the quarter ended December 31, 2004. No change in our internal control over financial reporting
occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2004 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
March §, 2005
To the Stockholders of I-many, Inc.

The management of I-many, Inc. is responsible for the preparation, integrity, objectivity and fair
presentation of the financial statements and other financial information presented in this report. The financial
statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America and reflect the effects of certain judgments and estimates made by management.

In order to ensure that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, management regularly
assesses such controls and did so most recently for our financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. This
assessment was based on criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting described in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Our assessment included the documentation and understanding of our internal control over
financial reporting. We have evaluated the design effectiveness and tested the operating effectiveness of internal
controls to form our conclusion.

Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our internal control over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures for maintaining records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
transactions and dispositions of assets, providing reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary
to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
assuring that receipts and expenditures are being made in accordance with authorizations of our management and
Board of Directors, and providing reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Based on this assessment, the undersigned officers concluded that our internal controls and procedures are
effective in timely alerting them to material information required to be included in our periodic SEC filings and
that information required to be disclosed by us in these periodic filings is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that our internal controls are effective
to provide reasonable assurance that our financial statements are fairly presented in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.

The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors, which consists of independent, non-executive directors,
meets regularly with management and our independent registered public accounting firm to review accounting,
reporting, auditing and internal control matters. The committee has direct and private access to our independent
registered public accounting firm.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, BDO Seidman, LLP, has reported on
management’s assertion with respect to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004.

/s/  A.LEIGH POWELL /s/  KEVIN M. HARRIS
A. Leigh Powell Kevin M. Harris
President and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
[-many, Inc.
Edison, New Jersey

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control, that I-many, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2004, based on the criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment
and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that I-many, Inc. maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by COSO. Also in our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004,
based on the criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheet of I-many, Inc. as of December 31, 2004 and the related
consolidated statement of operations, redeemable preferred stock and stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the
year ended December 31, 2004 and our report dated March 8, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP
BDO Seidman, LLP

Woodbridge, New Jersey
March 8, 2005




PART 111

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following sets forth the names of the Company’s current directors and executive officers and also
contains, for each person, certain biographical information, a brief description of principal occupation and
business experience, and other information. This information has been furnished by the respective individuals.

Non-Employee Directors

WILLIAM F. DOYLE, age 42, has served as a director since December 1999 and was chairman of our
Board from December 1999 until April 2001. He has been the managing director of WFD Ventures LLC, a
venture capital firm, since October 2002. He was a partner of Insight Capital Partners, a venture capital firm,
from November 1999 through October 2002. From November 1995 to November 1999, Mr. Doyle was vice
president, licensing and acquisition, and a member of the Consumer Pharmaceutical and Professional Group
Operating Committee of Johnson & Johnson. From June 1996 to November 1999, Mr. Doyle served as a director
of Johnson & Johnson Development Corporation, Johnson & Johnson’s venture capital subsidiary. From 1992 to
1995, Mr. Doyle was a manager at McKinsey & Co., a management consulting firm. Mr. Doyle holds an M.B.A.
from Harvard Business School and an S.B. from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

MURRAY B. LOW, age 52, has served as a director since October 2000. Dr. Low has been a professor at
Columbia Business School since 1990. Professor Low also has been Associate Professor and Executive Director
of the Eugene M. Lang Center for Entrepreneurship at Columbia Business School since it was established in July
2000. Since January 1996, he also has been president of Low & Associates, a consulting firm. Professor Low
received a Ph.D. in Entrepreneurial Management from the University of Pennsylvania.

KARL E. NEWKIRK, age 64, has served as a director since February 2002. Mr. Newkirk was a partner at
Accenture LLP (formerly Andersen Consulting) from 1972 through December 2001. He currently sits on the
board of directors of Ariba Inc., a publicly-traded company. Mr. Newkirk graduated from Case Institute of
Technology with a degree in Industrial Engineering and subsequently received his M.B.A. from Case Western
Reserve University.

Executive Officers

A. LEIGH POWELL, age 42, has served as I-many’s President and Chief Executive Officer since July 1999
and Chairman of the Board of Directors since February 2000. From February 1998 to July 1999, Mr. Powell
served as I-many’s Vice President of Marketing and as Chief Operating Officer. From January 1997 to February
1998, he served as vice president of business alliances for Think Systems/I2 Technologies, a supply chain
software company. From January 1996 to January 1997, Mr. Powell worked as a vice president for American
Software, a supply chain software company. From March 1985 to December 1995, Mr. Powell worked as a
business consultant for Andersen Consulting (now Accenture LLP), a management consulting firm. Mr. Powell
received his M.B.A. and B.S. from Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University.

TERRENCE M. NICHOLSON, age 50, has served as I-many’s Chief Operating Officer since August 1999.
From February 1996 to August 1999, Mr. Nicholson served as executive director, worldwide sales and
distribution systems, at Mallinckrodt, Inc., a manufacturer of medical devices. From February 1995 to February
1996, Mr. Nicholson served as program executive of NCR Corp., a manufacturer of data warehouse and decision
support systems. Mr. Nicholson received a M.S.C.E. from Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute and a B.S.E.E. from
the University of Notre Dame.

KEVIN M. HARRIS, age 42, has served as I-many’s Chief Financial Officer since June 2003. From January
2001 to April 2003, Mr. Harris served as the division controller for Hewlett Packard’s middleware division. From
March 2000 to January 2001, Mr. Harris served as the corporate controller for Bluestone Software. From October
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1998 to December 1999, Mr. Harris worked for Marketing Specialists, a food sales and marketing organization,
as executive vice president of their mid-Atlantic division. From November 1996 to October 1998, Mr. Harris
worked for Rogers-American Company, a food sales and marketing organization, as vice president/general
manager of their Philadelphia office. Mr. Harris holds B.S. and M.B.A. degrees from Drexel University.

KIRK KRAPPE, age 43, has served as I-many’s Executive Vice President of Worldwide Markets since June
2004. From February 2004 to June 2004, Mr. Krappe served as vice president of product marketing at
BEASystems, a publicly-traded infrastructure software company. From June 2001 to August 2003, Mr. Krappe
served as chief executive officer and president of Nextance, Inc. a private contract management software
company. From May 1999 to June 2001, Mr. Krappe served a senior vice president of markets at Corio, a
publicly-traded application hosting company. Mr. Krappe received his MBA from INSEAD in Fontainebleau,
France and a B.Eng. from Queen Mary College, University of London.

ROBERT G. SCHWARTZ, JR., age 39, has served as I-many’s Vice President, General Counsel and
Secretary since September 2001. From April 2000 through August 2001, Mr. Schwartz was vice president,
general counsel, secretary and a director of Emptoris, Inc., a developer of strategic sourcing software. From
September 1999 through April 2000, Mr. Schwartz served as assistant general counsel of Cambridge Technology
Partners, a publicly-held software integration services provider. From February 1997 through August 1999, Mr.
Schwartz served as vice president, general counsel and secretary of Astea International Inc., a publicly-held
developer of customer relationship management software. Mr. Schwartz holds a B.A. from Amherst College and
al].D. from Harvard Law School.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires the directors, executive officers and the
holders of more than 10% of the common stock of the Company to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership
of the Company’s common stock and other equity securities on a Form 3 and reports of changes in such
ownership on a Form 4 or Form 5. Officers, directors and 10% stockholders are required by SEC regulations to
furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms that they file. Based solely on our review of copies of reports
filed by reporting persons of the Company or written representations from certain reporting persons that no Form
5 filing was required for such person, the Company believes that during fiscal 2004 all filings required to be
made by its reporting persons were timely made in accordance with the requirements of the Exchange Act,
except that Diker Management LLC, a shareholder of the Company, filed a Form 3 Initial Statement of
Beneficial Ownership of Securities approximately six months late when it reported on October 7, 2004, that it
had acquired more than 10% of the Company’s outstanding common stock, and it further failed to report
numerous acquisitions of the Company’s common stock between March and September 2004 until reporting
them on a Form 4 on October 7, 2004,

I-many has adopted a revised Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all employees, including
its principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer. A copy of this Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics is included as an Exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Company
undertakes to provide a copy of its Code of Business Conduct and Ethics to any person without charge, upon
request to the Company, c/o General Counsel, 399 Thornall Street, 12t Floor, Edison, NJ 08837. The Company
intends to disclose waivers and amendments of provisions of the code, if any, for its principal executive officer,
principal financial officer and principal accounting officer and that relate to any element of the code of ethics
definition enumerated in applicable SEC rules by posting such information, if any, on its Internet website,
www.imany.com.
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ITEM 11, EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Executive Compensation and Related Information

The following table sets forth the total compensation paid by I-many for services rendered by our Chief
Executive Officer during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, as well as our four other
executive officers in office on December 31, 2004 (collectively, the “Named Executive Officers™) and one
former executive officer.

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

LONG-TERM
ANNUAL COMPENSATION COMPENSATION
OTHER ANNUAL SECURITIES ALL OTHER

NAME AND PRINCIPAL SALARY BONUS COMPENSATION UNDERLYING COMPENSATION

POSITION YEAR $) ($) $) OPTIONS (#) $)

A. Leigh Powell, ............ 2004 $250,000 $197,500(1) — —_ $7,880(2)
Chairman, President and 2003 $250,000  $143,728(3) $4.,066(4) 536,776 $6,461(2)
Chief Executive Officer 2002 $250,000  $400,546(5) $6,773(4) — $6,000(2)

Terrence M. Nicholson, ....... 2004 $200,000  $148,000(1) _ — $5,769(2)
Chief Operating Officer 2003 $200,000  $133,082(3) $5,580(4) 429,421 $6,461(2)

2002 $183,096  $139,114 $7.627(8) 35,000 $6,000(2)

Kevin M. Harris ............. 2004 3$164,423 $ 68,500(1) — — $6,000(2)
Chief Financial Officer 2003 $ 77,884(6) $ 785 $1,927(4) 372,066 $3,230(2)

KirkKrappé ................ 2004 $100,000(6) $ 69,146(1)(7) — 250,000 $3,00002)(6)
Executive Vice President,

Worldwide Markets

Robert G. Schwartz, Jr. ... .... 2004 $149,808 3 43,125(1) — - $5,077(2)
Vice President and General 2003 $145,000 § 24,550(3) $2.440(4) 311,330 —
Counsel 2002 $145,000 $ 7,977 $2,202(4) 12,000 —

(1) Consists of bonus for 2004 performance, whether paid in 2005 or 2004.
(2) Consists of car allowance.

(3) Consists of bonus for 2003 performance, whether paid in 2004 or 2003.
(4) Consists of Company contributions to 401(k) Plan.

{5) Consists of a cash bonus of $258,546 and an award of 100,000 unrestricted shares of common stock issued on February
7, 2003 as a bonus pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement.

(6) Reflects partial year of earnings during first year of employment.

(7) Represents sales commissions and draws against sales commissions.
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Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to stock options granted during the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2004 to each of the Named Executive Officers, including the potential realizable value over
the ten-year term of the options, based on assumed rates of stock appreciation from date of grant of 5% and 10%,
compounded annually. These assumed rates of appreciation comply with the rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and do not represent our estimate of our future stock price. Actual gain, if any, on stock options that
are exercised will depend on the future performance of our common stock. The options expire on the earlier of 10
years from the date of grant or three months after termination of employment.

INDIVIDUAL GRANTS
POTENTIAL
PERCENT REALIZABLE VALUE
OF TOTAL
AT ASSUMED
OPTIONS ANNUAL RATES OF
NUMBER OF GRANTED  EXERCISE
STOCK PRICE
SECURITIES TO PRICE APPRECIATION FOR
UNDERLYING EMPLOYEES PER OPTION TERM
OPTIONS IN FISCAL SHARE EXPIRATION
NAME GRANTED (#) YEARQ) ($/Sh) DATE 5% ($) 10% ($)

A.Leigh Powell ........... — — — — — —
Terrence M. Nicholson .... .. — — — — — _
Kevin M. Harris ........... — — — —_ — —
Kirk Krappé .............. 250,000(2) 25% $1.24 6/21/2014  $194,959 $494,047
Robert G. Schwartz, Jr. ..... — — — —_ — -

(1) The percentage of total options granted to employees during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004 is
based upon options to purchase an aggregate of 986,792 shares of common stock granted under our option
plans.

(2) The options become exercisable as to 25% of the underlying shares upon the first anniversary of the date of
grant and an additional 25% per year thereafter.

Aggregated Option Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and Year-End Option Values

The following table provides information concerning the exercise of options to purchase common stock by
our Named Executive Officers during fiscal 2004 and the number and value of unexercised stock options held by
these executive officers as of December 31, 2004. The value of unexercised in-the-money options is based on a
per share market value of $1.50, the closing price of our stock at December 31, 2004 as reported by the Nasdaq
National Market, less the applicable per share exercise price, multiplied by the number of shares issuable upon
exercise of the option.

NUMBER OF SHARES

SHARES UNDERLYING UNEXERCISED  VALUE OF UNEXERCISED IN-

ACQgA\IIRED VALUE OPTIONS AT THE-MONEY OPTIONS AT

EXFACISE REAIAeD DECEMBER 31, 2004 (%) DECEMBER 31, 2004 ($)
NAME ) $)  EXERCISABLE UNEXERCISABLE EXERCISABLE UNEXERCISABLE
A.LeighPowell .............. 15,000 $7,400 1,434,536 325,781 $384,028 $303.030
Terrence M. Nicholson ........ — — 716,223 268,626 $311,702 $249,424
Kevin M. Harris .............. —_ — 192,521 179,546 $230,152 $186,693
Kirk Krappé ... .ooovoeen. — — 0 250000 $ 0 $ 65000

Robert G. Schwartz, Jr. ........ 5,000 $2,550 220,020 158,311 $216,902 $178,157




Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment and Change of Control Arrangements

A. LEIGH POWELL. Under an employment agreement with Mr. Powell dated October 13, 2000, he
receives a base annual salary of $250,000. During the term of his employment, which is on an “at will” basis, Mr.
Powell will participate in a discretionary, performance-based bonus program, the terms of which shall be
determined by the Executive Compensation Committee. Mr. Powell is entitled to severance pay equal to nine
months of his base salary if his employment is terminated other than for cause. Upon a sale of I-many or
substantially all of its assets, or a merger or change of control of I-many, 50% of his then unvested options will
vest at that time, and the remaining unvested options will vest if his employment is terminated or his
compensation reduced during the following 12 months.

TERRENCE NICHOLSON. In July 2001, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Nicholson, our
Chief Operating Officer. Under the agreement, which provides that Mr. Nicholson is employed on an “at will”
basis, he receives a base salary of $200,000 per year. During the term of his employment, Mr. Nicholson will
participate in a performance-based bonus program, the terms of which shall be determined by the Executive
Compensation Committee. Mr. Nicholson is entitled to severance pay equal to six months of his base salary if his
employment is terminated other than for cause. Upon a sale of I-many or substantially all of its assets, or a merger
or change of control of I-many, 50% of his then unvested options will vest at that time, and the remaining unvested
options will vest if his employment is terminated or his compensation reduced during the following 12 months.

KEVIN M. HARRIS. In June 2003, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Harris, our Chief
Financial Officer. Under the agreement, which provides that Mr. Harris is employed on an “at will” basis, he
receives a base salary of $165,000 per year. During the term of his employment, Mr. Harris will participate in a
performance-based bonus program, the terms of which shall be determined by the Executive Compensation
Committee. Mr. Harris is entitled to severance pay equal to six months of his base salary if his employment is
terminated or the conditions of his employment are materially reduced, other than for cause. Upon a sale of
I-many or substantially all of its assets, or a merger or change of control of I-many, 100% of his then unvested
options will vest at that time.

KIRK KRAPPE. In June 2004, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Krappé, our Executive
Vice President, Worldwide Markets. Under the agreement, which provides that Mr. Krappé is employed on an
“at will” basis, he receives a base salary of $200,000 per year. During the term of his employment, Mr. Krappé
will participate in a quota-based commission program, the terms of which shall be determined by the Executive
Compensation Committee. Mr. Krappé€ is entitled to severance pay equal to six months of his base salary and
draw if his employment is terminated or the conditions of his employment are materially reduced, other than for
cause. Upon a sale of I-many or substantially all of its assets, or a merger or change of control of I-many, 50% of
his then unvested options will vest at that time, and the remaining unvested options will vest if his employment is
terminated or his compensation reduced during the folowing 12 months.

ROBERT G. SCHWARTZ, IR. By resolution of I-many’s Board of Directors, if Mr. Schwartz’s
employment is terminated or the terms of his employment are substantially altered within six months of a change
of control of I-many or a sale of substantially all of its assets, 50% of his then unvested options will vest.

Compensation of Directors

Our non-employee directors receive compensation in a combination of cash, stock options and restricted
stock. They receive:

s $2,500 per calendar quarter in cash;

* an option to purchase 25,000 shares of common stock, granted on the date of each annual meeting of
stockholders (vesting in three equal annual installments beginning on the first anniversary of the option
grant date). The exercise price of all options will be the fair market value of [-many’s common stock on
the date of grant, and the term of each option may not exceed ten years;
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and

¢ a grant of restricted stock on each January 2 (or January 3 if January 2 is a Company holiday) on which
such person is a member of the Board, which the Company may repurchase for par value if the
director’s service ends before the grant vests. Fifty percent of these shares vest if the director remains in
the Company’s service through the announcement of full-year financial results for the year of grant (that
is, approximately 13 months later), and 50% vest if the director’s service continues through the
announcement of the subsequent year’s financial results. The number of shares granted is determined by
dividing $12,000 by the closing market price of I-many’s common stock on the last trading day before
the grant date (December 31, 2004 for the January 3, 2004 award).

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The members of the Executive Compensation Committee during 2004 were Messrs. Doyle and Low. No
member of the Executive Compensation Committee was at any time during the fiscal year ended December 31,
2004 an officer or employee of the Company, nor has any member of the Executive Compensation Committee
had any relationship with the Company requiring disclosure under Item 404 of Regulation S-K under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

None of the Company’s executive officers has served as a director or member of the compensation
committee (or other committee serving an equivalent function) of any other entity, one of whose executive
officers served as a director of I-many or member of I-many’s Executive Compensation Committee.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICTIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth certain information concerning beneficial ownership of our outstanding
common stock as of March 1, 2005 by:

* each stockholder that we know is the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our common stock;
* each of our directors;
¢ each of our executive officers; and

» all directors and executive officers as a group.




Information with respect to “beneficial ownership” shown in the table below is based on information
supplied by the respective beneficial owners. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and generally includes voting or investment power with respect to
securities. For purposes of calculating the percentage beneficially owned by a particular beneficial owner, the
shares of common stock deemed outstanding include 42,896,053 shares outstanding as of March 1, 2005 plus all
common stock issuable on exercise of options (both in-the-money and not) within 60 days of that date held by the
particular beneficial owner (“Presently Exercisable Options”). Presently Exercisable Options are deemed to be
outstanding and to be beneficially owned by the person holding such options for the purpose of computing the
percentage ownership of such person but are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of computing the
percentage ownership of any other person. Unless otherwise indicated, the mailing address of each beneficial
owner is ¢/o I-many, Inc., 399 Thomall Street, 12" Floor, Edison, NJ 08837.

AMOUNT AND
NATURE OF PERCENT
BENEFICIAL OF
NAME AND ADDRESS OF BENEFICIAL OWNER OWNERSHIP CLASS

Five Percent Owners:

Diker Management, LLC(1)(2) ....... ... . o, 8,119,277 18.9%
745 Fifth Ave., Suite 1409

New York, New York 10151

Ramius Capital Group, LLC(3) . ...t 4,137,121 9.6%
666 Fifth Avenue, 26% Floor
New York, NY 10017

Non-Employee Directors:

William F. Doyle(4) .. ... o 408,739 *
Murray B. Low(S) ... 137,906 *
Karl E. Newkirk(0) .. ... . e e 122,906 *
Executive Officers:

A LeighPowell(7) ... o 1,880,953 4.2%
Terrence M. Nicholson(8) . ....... ... ... . i 911,783 21%
Kitk Krappé . ... .. e — —
Kevin M. Harris(8) . ..o 334,566 *
Robert G. Schwartz, JT.(9) ... ..o e 362,330 *
All executive officers and directors as a group (8 people)(10) . ........ .. 4,159,183 8.9%

*  Indicates less than one percent of the outstanding common stock.
1.  Reported by the investor on Schedule 13D filed with the SEC on January 6, 2005.

2. Consists of 73,500 shares indirectly held by the investor in its capacity as the Registered Investment Adviser
of certain managed accounts and partnerships, as set forth on Form 4. Pursuant to Schedule 13G it also
consists of 8,045,777 shares for which the investor claims shared voting and dispositive power as the
investment manager of Diker Value-Tech Fund, LP, Diker Value-Tech QP Fund, LP, Diker Micro & Small
Cap Fund, LP, Diker M&S Cap Master Fund, Ltd. and the investment adviser of separately managed
accounts.

3. Reported by the investor on Schedule 13D/A filed with the SEC on February 10, 2005. Consists of
2,894,121 shares indirectly held by the investor in its capacity as the investment advisor of RCG Ambrose
Master Fund, Ltd. RCG Halifax Fund, Ltd., and Ramius Securities, L.L.C.

4. Consists of (a) 383,334 shares issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within the 60-day period after
March 1, 2005 and (b) 25,405 shares of common stock, including 8,000 shares of unvested restricted
common stock.
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5. Consists of (a) 112,501 shares issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within the 60-day period after
March 1, 2005 and (b) 25,405 shares of common stock, including 8,000 shares of unvested restricted
common stock.

6. Consists of (a) 87,501 shares issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within the 60-day period after
March 1, 2005 and (b) 35,405 shares of common stock, including 8,000 shares of unvested restricted
common stock.

7. Consists of (a) 1,671,278 shares issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within the 60-day period after
March 1, 2005 and (b) 209,675 shares of common stock.

8. Consists entirely of shares issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within the 60-day period after
March 1, 2005.

9. Consists of (a) 357,330 shares issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within the 60-day period after
March 1, 2005 and (b) 5,000 shares of common stock.

10. Consists of (a) 3,858,293 shares issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within the 60-day period after
March 1, 2005 and (b) 300,890 shares of common stock, including 24,000 shares of unvested restricted
common stock.

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2004 about the Company’s common stock that
may be issued to employees, consultants or members of the Board of Directors under all of our existing equity
compensation plans.

Number of securities Number of securities

to be issued upon Weighted average  remaining available for
exercise of exercise price of future issuance under
outstanding options, outstanding options, equity compensation
Plan Category warrants and rights  warrants and rights plans(1)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders .. ....................... 9,368,455 $1.928 5,192,444
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders(2) ....................... 28,995 1.990 1,165,305
Total ...... ... .. ... .. ... ... ...... 9,397,450 $1.928 6,357,749

(1) Includes 869,785 shares issuable under the Company’s 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan after December
31, 2004. Excludes securities reflected in the column entitled “Number of securities to be issued upon
exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights.” In addition to being available for future issuance upon
exercise of incentive and nonqualified stock options that may be granted after December 31, 2004,
2,617,269 shares under our 2001 Stock Incentive Plan and 1,555,390 shares under our 2003 Stock Incentive
Plan may instead be issued in the form of restricted stock and other equity-based awards.

(2) The Company’s 2001 Employee Stock Option Plan, which provides for the issuance of stock option awards
to employees of the Company who are not executive officers, has not been approved by the Company’s
stockholders. Option awards under this plan are treated as non-qualified options. A description of the
material terms of this plan is included in note 5(d) to the Company’s consolidate financial statements.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

There were no transactions during 2004 to which I-many was a party, in which the amount involved
exceeded $60,000 and which involved any director, director nominee, or executive officer of I-many, any 5%
stockholder, or any member of the immediate family of any of those persons.




ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.
Audit Fees and Other Matters
Audit Fees

As of March 1, 2005, BDO Seidman, LLP, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm,
billed the Company an aggregate of $449,000 in fees for professional services rendered by such firm in
connection with the audit of the Company’s financial statements and internal controls for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2004 and the reviews of the financial statements included in each of the Company’s Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004. As of March 1, 2004, Deloitte & Touche
LLP, the Company’s former independent registered public accounting firm, billed the Company an aggregate of
$384,000 in fees for professional services rendered by such firm in connection with the audit of the Company’s
financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 and the reviews of the financial statements
included in each of the Company’s Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q during the fiscal year ended December 31,
2003.

Audit-Related Fees

In 2004, BDO Seidman, LLP billed the Company $15,000 in fees in connection with the audit of I-many’s
401(k) Retirement Plan for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003. In 2003, Deloitte & Touche LLP billed the
Company (a) $131,000 in fees in connection with the terminated sale of the health and life sciences business to
Neoforma, Inc., (b) $15,000 in fees in connection with the audit of I-many’s 401(k) Retirement Plan for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2002, (c) $10,000 in fees in connection with the audit of I-many’s 401(k) Retirement
Plan for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001, and (d) an aggregate of $97,000 in fees for other assurance and
related services related to the performance of the audit of the Company’s financial statements for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2003.

Tax Fees

BDO Seidman, LLP billed the Company an aggregate of $57,000 in fees for tax compliance, tax advice and
tax planning during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004. Deloitte & Touche LLP billed the Company an
aggregate of $205,000 in fees for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning during the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003.

All Other Fees

None.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Pursuant to policies approved by the Audit Committee, the Company may not engage its independent
registered public accounting firm to render any service unless the service is approved in advance by the Audit
Committee or the services fall into any of the following categories:

*  The chairman of the Audit Committee may pre-approve any such audit or non-audit service; provided
that the chairman is required to report on such approval at the next regularly scheduled meeting of the
Audit Committee.

»  From time to time, the Audit Committee may pre-approve services that are expected to be provided to
the Company by the independent registered public accounting firm during the next 12 months. At the
time such pre-approval is granted, the Audit Committee shall:

* identify the particular pre-approved services in a sufficient level of detail so that management will
not be called upon to make a judgment as to whether a proposed service fits within the pre-approved
services; and
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* establish a monetary limit with respect to each particular pre-approved service, which limit shall not
be exceeded without obtaining further pre-approval under these procedures.

»  Ateach regularly scheduled meeting of the Audit Committee, management or the independent
registered public accounting firm shall report to the Audit Committee regarding each service actually

provided to the Company pursuant to this paragraph.

None of the services described in items 9(e)(2) through 9(e)(4) of Schedule 14A were approved by the Audit
Committee pursuant to Section (c)(7)(1)(C) of Rule 2-01 of Regulation S-X.




PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) DOCUMENTS FILED AS A PART OF THIS REPORT
1. Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements listed below together with the report thereon of BDO Seidman LLP,
the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, dated January 28, 2005 are included in this report
in Item 8 and are incorporated herein by reference.

Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2004

Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2004

Consolidated Statement of Redeemable Preferred Stock and Stockholders” Equity for the year ended
December 31, 2004

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2004

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements listed below together with the report thereon of Deloitte & Touche
LLP, the Company’s former independent registered public accounting firm, dated March 15, 2004 are included in
this report in Item 8§ and are incorporated herein by reference.

Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2003

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2003

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Exhibits Required to be filed by Item 601 of Regulation S-K

The information called for by this paragraph is contained in the Exhibit Index of this report which is
incorporated herein by reference.

(b) EXHIBITS
EXHIBIT
NO. DESCRIPTION
2.1(1) Agreement and Plan of Merger among Selectica, Inc., Indigo Merger Corporation and [-many,

Inc., dated as of December 3, 2004
3.10)(2) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
3.1G1)(3) Certificate of Designation for Series A Preferred Stock
3.2(2) Amended and Restated Bylaws

4.1(2) Specimen certificate for shares of common stock
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EXHIBIT
NO.

DESCRIPTION

4.202)(4)

10.1(2)
10.2(2)
10.3(2)
10.4(2)
10.5(5)
10.6(6)
10.7(7)
10.8(8)
10.9(2)

10.10(9)
10.11(3)

10.12(3)

10.13(10)
10.14(11)

10.15(12)
10.16(13)
10.17(2)
10.18(3)

10.19(2)
10.20(3)
10.21(14)
10.22(4)

14.1(15)
21.1
23.1
23.2
24.1
31.1

31.2

Description of capital stock (contained in the Certificate of Incorporation filed as Exhibit 3.1(i)
and the Certificate of Designation for Series A Preferred Stock as filed in Exhibit 3.1(ii))

1994 Stock Plan

1997 Stock Option/Incentive Plan

2000 Stock Incentive Plan

2000 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan

2001 Stock Incentive Plan

2001 Employee Stock Plan

Menerva Technologies, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan
2003 Stock Incentive Plan

Form of sublease agreement, dated February 11, 2000, between PXRE Corp and Registrant
regarding premises at 399 Thornall Street, Edison, New Jersey

Employment agreement, dated October 13, 2000, between Registrant and A. Leigh Powell

Amendment to employment agreement between Registrant and A. Leigh Powell, dated January 7,
2002

Amendment to employment agreement between Registrant and A. Leigh Powell, dated December
31, 2002

Employment agreement, dated July 1, 2001, between Registrant and Terrence M. Nicholson

Amendment to Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Terrence M. Nicholson, dated
as of April 19, 2002

Employment agreement, dated June 16, 2003, between Registrant and Kevin M. Harris
Employment offer letter of Kirk Krappé, dated April 30, 2004
Strategic Relationship Agreement with The Procter and Gamble Company, dated May 1, 2000

Amendment No. 1 to Strategic Relationship Agreement with The Procter and Gamble Company,
dated as of February 13, 2003

Warrant issued to The Procter and Gamble Company, dated May 1, 2000
Warrant issued to The Procter and Gamble Company, dated February 13, 2003
Warrant issued to Accenture LLP, dated April 11, 2001

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated February 15, 2002, among the Registrant and the
purchasers named therein

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Consent of BDO Seidman LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting firm
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Power of Attorney of Directors (see signature page)

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the
Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the
Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002




EXHIBIT
NO. DESCRIPTION
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Section 906 Certifications

99.1(13) Compensation report of Compensation Resources, Inc. dated October 24, 2004, on market analysis

ey
2

3

4
(5)
Q)

¢

®
&)

(10)

an

12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

of executive and director compensation.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 9, 2004

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No.
333-32346) originally filed with the SEC on March 13, 2000

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on February 28, 2002
Incorporated by reference to the 2001 Proxy Statement, filed with the SEC on April 25, 2001

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-86958) filed
with the SEC on April 25, 2002

Incorporated by reference to the 2003 Proxy Statement, filed with the SEC on April 30, 2003

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March
31, 2001

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2001

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2002

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2003

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2004

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2001

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2003,
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized.

I-MANY, INC.

By: /s/ A, LEIGH POWELL

A. Leigh Powell
Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board
of Directors and President

Date: March 16, 2005

/s/ KEVIN M. HARRIS

Kevin M. Harris
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Date: March 16, 2005

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes
and appoints A. Leigh Powell and Kevin M. Harris, jointly and severally, his attorney-in-fact, each with the
power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Report on Form 10-K and
to file same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorney-in-fact, or his substitute or substitutes,
may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Form 10-K has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE
/s/ A.LEIGH POWELL Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of March 16, 2005
A. Leigh Powell the Board of Directors and President

(principal executive officer)

/s/ KevIN M. HARRIS Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer March 16, 2005
Kevin M. Harris (principal financial officer)
/s/ WILLIAM F. DOYLE Director March 16, 2005

William F. Doyle

/s/  KARL NEWKIRK Director March 16, 2005
Karl Newkirk
/s/ MURRAY B. Low Director March 16, 2005

Murray B. Low
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John A, Rade
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Former President and CEO of AXS5-One, Inc.,

William F. Doyle
Managing Director
WFD Ventures

Yorgen H. Edhoim
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I-many, Inc.
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Managing Partner
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Associate Professor and Executive Director
of the Eugene M. Lang Center for
Entrepreneurship

Columbia Business School

Mark R. Mitchell
Managing Director
Ramius Capital Group, LLC

Karl E. Newkirk
Independent Director
Ariba, Inc.
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President and Chief Executive Officer
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Chief Financial Officer
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330 Madison Ave
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I-many, Inc.

.ADVANCED ENTERPRISE CONTRACT MANAGEMENT SOLUTIONS
FOR MANAGING CORPORATE COMMITMENTS

I-many (NASDAQ:IMNY) delivers the most advanced. Enterprise Contract Management solutions for managing corporate commitments.
Designed to extend beyond the traditional contract managemeﬁt capabilities, l-many ContractSphere® offers an end-to-end solution,
from pre-contract processes and contract management to transaction compliance. Ultimately, this provides companies with the visibility
and control needed to manage any type of commitments — from contracts and obligations to payments and collections. The result is
increased revenue, minimized risk and dramatically reduced operating costs, which deliver improved profitability with hard return on
investment. More than 280 customers across 21 industries worldwide have implemented and realized the value of I-many business solutions.
For more information, please visit www.imany.com.

WORLDWIDE HEADQUARTERS: WEST COAST HEADQUARTERS: PORTLAND, MAINE OFFICE: EUROPEAN HEADQUARTERS:
I-many, Inc. l-many, Inc. l-many, Inc. l-many, Inc.
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399 Thornalf Street Suite 300 6th Floor London

Edison, NJ 08837 Redwood Shores, CA 94065 Portland, ME 04101 ECaY 8JJ
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